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MONTANA
DEPARTMENT OF
ADMINISTRATION

State Financial Services Division
Greg Gianforte, Governaor
Misty Ann Giles, Director

March 22, 2023
To the Citizens, Governor, and Members of the Legislature of the State of Montana:

In accordance with Title 17, Chapter 2, Part 110, Montana Code Annotated (MCA), we are pleased to
submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the State of Montana (State) for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2022. Responsibility for the accuracy of the data presented and the completeness
and fairness of the presentation rests with the Department of Administration. To the best of our knowledge
and belief, the enclosed data is accurate, in all material respects, and is reported in a manner designed to
present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the various funds of the State of Montana.
All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the State’s financial activities
are included.

DESCRIPTION OF THE ACFR
This report and the accompanying financial statements and statistical tables were prepared in accordance
with standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The State’s ACFR is divided into three main sections: introductory, financial, and statistical. The
introductory section includes this transmittal letter, an organization chart for the State, and a list of
principal state officials. The financial section contains management’s discussion and analysis, the
independent auditor's report, government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, notes to
the financial statements, combining statements by fund type, and other schedules. The statistical section
includes financial, economic, and demographic data.

This report includes all funds of those entities that comprise the State of Montana (the primary
government) and its component units. The component units are entities that are legally separate from the
State, but for which the State is financially accountable, or whose relationship with the State is such that
exclusion would cause the State’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The GASB has set
forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These criteria include appointing a
voting majority of an organization’s governing body, and either (1) the State is able to impose its will on
that organization, or (2) there is the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to,
or impose specific financial burdens on, the State. The following component units are included in the
State’s financial reporting entity: Montana Board of Housing, Facility Finance Authority, Montana State
Fund, Montana Reinsurance Association, Montana State University, University of Montana, Public
Employees’ Retirement Board, and Teachers’ Retirement System.



PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

After 25 years as a territory, Montana became the 41st state when it was admitted to the Union in 1889.
While Montana has a total area of 147,040 square miles (including water area), and is the nation’s fourth-
largest state, it is also one of the most sparsely populated, with an estimated population of slightly over
one million. Montana is vast, including rolling plains, the Northern Rocky Mountains, all of Glacier National
Park, three of the five entrances to Yellowstone National Park, wheat farms, cattle ranches, tribal lands,
and extensive natural resources.

In 1972, a constitutional convention convened, rewriting the State’s Constitution and establishing the
current governmental structure. As shown in the organization chart attached within this report, State
government is divided into three separate branches: legislative, executive, and judicial. Montana’s
Legislature consists of 50 senators and 100 representatives elected from single-member districts. The
Legislature meets in regular biennial sessions for 90 days in odd-numbered years. Montana is governed
by its Constitution, and its laws are administered by its executive branch officers and various boards and
commissions. State government services provided to citizens include building and maintaining roads;
providing public safety, health, and environmental protection services to protect the general welfare of the
State’s citizens; helping adults, children, and families through difficult times such as abuse, divorce,
illness, death, and, unemployment; fostering an attractive business climate to encourage economic
growth; and protecting public lands and natural resources for conservation and recreational activities. The
State also provides significant financial support to its higher education institutions, local governments, and
school districts to help those entities meet the specific needs of their constituents.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

Montana’s economic output, measured by real gross state product (GSP), advanced 4.8% in 2021 from
its 2020 level. Growth is on track to finish 2022 in positive territory, but the pace is slowing. Production is
sourced primarily from service-providing industries (e.g., healthcare, trade/transportation/utilities, financial
services, professional and business services). In 2021, service-providing industries accounted for over
80% of the state’s real GSP, with goods industries accounting for the remaining. Montana's four largest
industries by share of real GSP are trade/transportation/utilities services, financial activity services,
education and health services, and professional and business services. Other important industries for
Montana include manufacturing, construction, and leisure/hospitality (driven by nonresident travel). These
three industries each account for between 4% to 7% of real GSP. Montana’s industry mix remains roughly
the same through 2022.

Montana nonfarm (payroll) employment reached new territory in 2021, eclipsing 500,000 jobs for the first
time. From December 2020 to December 2021, Montana added 21,900 payroll jobs, an increase of 4.5%.
Employment gains continued into 2022. Montana achieved record nonfarm employment in June 2022 of
508,000. This high-water mark is an increase of 18,800 jobs (3.8%) from the pre-pandemic employment
peak of 489,300 in February 2020. Since June 2022 nonfarm employment has declined slightly, a trend
that is projected to continue through 2023 as weak economic growth puts pressure on employers. The
statewide unemployment rate averaged 3.4% in 2021, down from 5.8% in 2020. It fell to a record low of
2.3% in March and April of 2022 amid an incredible imbalance between labor demand and labor supply.
This demand-supply gap retracts in 2023 and the unemployment rate rises toward more normal levels.
Like GSP, Montana’s employment is concentrated in the service-providing sector. Industries in this sector
account for about 88% of total nonfarm (payroll) employment in the state.

Montana’s tight labor market has pushed nominal wage growth higher over the past few years as firms
compete for qualified workers. Per the 2022 Labor Day Report issued by the Montana Department of
Labor and Industry, Montana had nominal wage gains of 5.9% in 2021. Montana’s average annual wage
was $51,331 in 2021, ranking 45" among states. Rising inflation in 2021 resulted in real wage growth of
1.3%. Real wage growth was widespread across industries in Montana. The three industries with the
fastest real wage growth in 2021 were leisure and hospitality, finance, and real estate. A large uptick in
nonresident travel and a strong housing market in 2021 contributed to the robust real wage gain for these
industries. Montana total personal income advanced at the 12" fastest pace in the nation in 2021.



For a more in-depth analysis of the State’s overall financial position, the reader should refer to the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the financial statements contained in the ACFR.

Service-Providing Industries

Healthcare is one of Montana's largest employing private industries. When reviewing the top ten principal
employers in Montana, four of them are related to healthcare (see the statistics section, Schedule D-2,
Principal Employers for further information). Using nonfarm data from the Montana Department of Labor
and Industry, employment in Montana’s healthcare and social assistance industry increased by over 1,800
jobs from June of 2021 to June of 2022. Total jobs in the industry increased 2.6% from 69,500 to 71,300 .
Over the previous five years, healthcare added an average of 850 jobs per year.

The trade, transportation, and utilities industry are part of the service-providing sector. The professions
consist of wholesale trade, retail trade, transportation and warehousing, and utilities. Data from the
Montana Department of Labor and Industry indicate Montana’s trade, transportation, and utilities industry
increased 5.2% to 100,100 jobs in June of 2022 compared to 95,200 jobs in 2021.

The professional and business services industry is part of the service-providing sector. The professions
consist of professional scientific and technical services, management of companies and enterprises,
administrative/support, and waste management/remediation services. Data from the Montana Department
of Labor and Industry indicate Montana’s professional and business services industry increased by 4,700
jobs from June 2021 to June 2022. This was an increase of 10.4% from 45,400 to 50,100.

The financial activities sector is also a service-providing industry that encompasses employment in
financing, insurance, real estate, and rental leasing. Data from the Montana Department of Labor and
Industry show employment in Montana’s financial activities sector increased to 27,800 jobs from June
2021 to June 2022. This was in increase of 7.8% from 25,800.

Nonresident Travel

Nonresident travel to Montana in 2021 was approximately 12.5 million visitors, up 12.5% from 2020, but
down 1% from the pre-pandemic year of 2019. This information was provided by the University of
Montana’s Institute for Tourism & Recreation Research. Despite a decrease in travel and travel spending
during 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, both traveler numbers and the associated spending
recovered during 2021. In fact, spending surpassed that of 2019, while the number of travelers to
Montana during the year were just below pre-pandemic levels.

Glacier National Park was closed to visitors from March 27, 2020, to June 8, 2020, when a phased
reopening was initiated. Visitor numbers for Glacier National Park were 44.3% lower in 2020 than in
2019, with an estimated 1.7 million visitors. Visitation rebounded strongly in 2021 to nearly 3.1 million,
eclipsing the 2019 pre-pandemic level of 3.0 million by 1.0%.

Yellowstone National Park closed March 24, 2020, with Montana entrances reopened on June 1, 2020.
Visitation to Yellowstone National Park was 3.8 million in 2020, down 5% from 2019. Resurgent travel in
2021 resulted in 4.9 million visits to Yellowstone, up 28% from 2020 and 21% from 2019.

Nonresident travelers contribute directly to the tax base by paying the lodging tax and excise taxes, such
as those on gasoline, and indirectly by supporting employment in industries that pay corporate taxes and
whose employees pay income, property, and other taxes. Estimated nonresident direct travel
expenditures in Montana totaled nearly $5.2 billion in 2021, representing an increase of $1.8 billion from
2020 (53.3%) and $1.1 billion (26.3%) from 2019.



Agriculture
Montana’s wheat crop utilized 5.5 million acres in 2021, an insignificant change from 2020. Wheat

production fell sharply in 2021, declining over 126.7 million bushels to 100.6 million bushels from 227.3
million bushels in 2020. Winter wheat production decreased to 53.6 million bushels compared to the 2020
level of 75.9 million bushels, representing a 29.4% decrease. Spring wheat production cratered 70.3%
from 2020 to 2021, falling from 124.6 million bushels to 37.1 million bushels. Durum production declined
from 26.7 million bushels in 2020 to 9.9 million bushels in 2021.

Montana’s other major agricultural commodities include oats, barley, and cattle. Oat production in
Montana decreased to 560 thousand bushels in 2021 from 1.7 million bushels in 2020. Barley production
fell by nearly half in 2021, falling from 45.7 million bushels to 24.7 million bushels. Montana ranked 13" in
the U.S. cattle and calf industry with production of 2.5 million head in 2021. Montana’s 2021 receipts from
cattle sales were $1.6 billion.

Natural Resources/Mining
Montana’s natural resources and mining industry employed 7,200 workers at the end of June 2022, a 1%
increase from 6,700 workers at the end of 2021.

As of the end of calendar year 2020, Montana’s total crude oil proved reserves stood at 256 million
barrels. Total crude oil production in the state was 19.1 million barrels in 2020 and remained essentially
flat at 19.0 million barrels in 2021, according to data from the U.S. Energy Information Administration
(EIA).

Montana’s total coal reserves were estimated at 118.4 billion short tons, with recoverable reserves of 74.3
billion short tons in 2021. This represents 25.1% of the total U.S. reserves and 29.6% of the recoverable
U.S. reserves. Montana’s recoverable coal reserves at producing mine sites stood at 559 million short
tons in 2021, 4.6% of the U.S. total. This is a decline from the 2020 level of 707 million short tons. During
2021, resurgent demand led to higher production of 28.6 million short tons, an increase of 8.7% from 26.4
million short tons in 2020.

Historically, minerals mining has been a part of Montana’s economy. While there is no published data on
proven reserves for metals mining, Montana’s mines continue to produce copper, molybdenum, lead,
zinc, palladium, gold, silver, cobalt, nickel, chromate, platinum, and other metals. Montana also produces
non-metal minerals such as talc, limestone, bentonite, garnets, and sapphires. The “rare earth” metals,
now in demand in many new products, are also known to exist within the state.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The State, as part of its biennial budget, determines how to enact the next few years of long-range
planning as required by various MCA statutes. As part of the budgeting process, the Office of Budget and
Program Planning forecasts revenue for six years and conducts financial and budgetary stress tests over
the same period. For the 2023 Biennium, the Legislature passed legislation that continues a macro-
statewide financial analysis that looks forward ten years as part of the budgeting process. Capital
improvement programs focus work on construction and maintenance of state buildings, energy efficiency
improvements in state facilities, and investments in state services. The loan and grant programs focus on
helping local governments fund infrastructure projects, funding projects that benefit the State’s natural
heritage, reclaiming land impacted by mineral development, funding regional water systems, protecting
works of art in the state capitol, and other cultural and aesthetic projects. The activity is reported in the
debt service, capital projects, and permanent funds and the financial information can be found in the
Supplemental Information for nonmajor governmental funds.

Title 17, Chapter 7, Part 2, Montana Code Annotated (MCA), provides a statutory structure for financing
new capital projects and deferred maintenance. Capital project funds are used to fund building projects,
with 1.0% of General Fund revenue less any existing general obligation bond debt service. Deferred
maintenance is funded at 0.6% of current replacement value of existing Long Range Building Program
through coal and cigarette taxes, with any difference being made up by the General Fund.



There is an inflation-adjusted general obligation debt service cap, as well as a separate inflation-adjusted
total state debt cap that will curtail appropriations for new building projects moving forward in the event
the caps are surpassed.

MAJOR INITIATIVES AND LONG TERM OUTLOOK

The 2021 Legislature completed work and adjourned in late April 2021. Upon adjournment, it was
anticipated that 2023 biennium General Fund revenue collections would be approximately $5.4 billion and
General Fund expenditures would be approximately $5.3 billion. At the end of the Legislative session, the
estimated General Fund balance for fiscal year 2023 was estimated to be approximately $380.0 million.

In fiscal year 2022, the General Fund unassigned ending fund balance was 1.8 billion as compared to
$641.5 million in fiscal year 2021. The increase in fund balance, when compared to fiscal year 2021, was
the result of strong economic growth and one time only revenues that were greater than estimated and
expenditures that were less than estimated.

The following are the major financial highlights of the 2023 biennium budget:

1. The Governor signed House Bill (HB) 632, which created a structure for funding and
implementation of the American Rescue Plan Act. There is appropriated $906.4 million in State
Fiscal Recovery Funds, $81.8 million in Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, $119.3 million in capital
project funds, and $1.1 billion in other federal programs administered by the State. Advisory
Commissions were created that are made up of legislators and members appointed by the
Governor. These Advisory Commissions review recommendations for funding projects in the
interim and make their recommendations for the consideration of the Governor.

2. HB 3 and HB 630 appropriated $750.0 million of federal funding from the Consolidated
Appropriations Act. This Federal COVID-19 funding focused on vaccines, education,
transportation infrastructure, and emergency rental assistance.

3. HB 14 and Senate Bill (SB) 191 transferred $223.6 million from the General Fund into the capital
project funds, which was created in HB 553 in the 66th legislative session in 2021. Capital
projects that were appropriated in state legislation that are later determined to be ineligible for
COVID-19 federal funding will be paid out of the capital development fund. Any balance
remaining will be carried forward into next legislative session.

4. The base budget for the Department of Public Health and Human Services increased by $42.3
million in the General Fund due to provider rate increases in foster care and Medicaid programs,
investments in the recruitment and retention of direct care workers, and increased authority for
the Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP).

5. Funding for K-12 education increases totaled $104.5 million in the General Fund and included
inflationary increases for base amount for school equity (BASE) Aid and the Montana Digital
Academy, and funding for the Advanced Opportunities and Transformational Learning Grant
Program. The Montana Indian Language Preservation Program moved from the Department of
Commerce to the Office of Public Instruction.

6. SBs 159 and 399 make changes to the structure of Montana’s individual income tax. The sole
effect of SB 159 is a reduction in Montana’s top marginal income tax rate from 6.9% to 6.75%
beginning in calendar year 2022. SB 399 provides for a broad restructuring of Montana’s income
tax. The bill consolidates the current seven marginal rates down to two (6.5% and 4.7%),
eliminates numerous individual and corporate income tax credits, and changes the starting point
on the Montana individual income tax return to federal taxable income. Income tax credits (except
for the capital gains tax credit) are eliminated starting in calendar year 2022, but the tax rate
reductions don’t take effect until calendar year 2024. The estimated net effect of SBs 159 and 399
is to reduce General Fund revenue by $6.0 million in fiscal year 2022 and $26.4 million in fiscal
year 2023.
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7. HB 303 increases the market value exemption of class 8 business equipment property from
$100.0 to $300.0 thousand. This change lowers the taxable value of class 8 property. To avoid a
tax burden shift to other classes of property, local governments and school districts are
reimbursed for the reduction in class 8 tax revenue via increased entitlement share transfers and
guaranteed tax base payments, respectively.

8. HB 252 created a 50% non-refundable tax credit for qualified training expenses for vocational,
technical, and trade professions.

9. The corporate income tax apportionment formula is changed by SB 376 to a three-factor method
that uses a double weight on sales. General Fund revenue is estimated to increase from this new
corporate income tax formula equal to $2.4 million in fiscal year 2022 and $3.4 million in fiscal
year 2023.

10. Other tax bills that were passed include: HB 191 (increase in the residential property tax credit for
elderly), HB 340 (increases the cap on MEDIA film tax credits by $2.0 million), HB 661 (lowers tax
rate on certain oil production from stripper wells), and HB 629 (creates a nonrefundable tax credit
for employers that hire a certain number of qualifying employees).

11. Montana voters passed Initiative 191 legalizing adult-use marijuana. HB 701 created the
regulatory framework for marijuana regulation inclusive of a sales tax for adult-use (20%) and a
reduction to the medical marijuana tax from 4% to 2%. As part of that regulatory and tax structure
an additional opt-infopt-out local (3%) sales tax was created.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Montana's Statewide Accounting, Budgeting, and Human Resource System (SABHRS) is a centrally
maintained, fully computerized, double-entry accounting system. SABHRS records are system edited and
budget checked before being posted.

Management of the State is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure
designed to ensure that the assets of the State are protected from loss or misuse, and that adequate
accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. In developing and evaluating the State’s accounting system,
consideration is given to the adequacy of internal accounting controls. Internal accounting controls are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the above objectives are met. The
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits
likely to be derived, and that the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by
management.

Budgetary restrictions are imposed through appropriations approved by the Legislature or established
administratively as provided for by state law. Appropriations are required by state law for the General,
State and Federal Special Revenue, and capital projects funds. The level of budgetary control is generally
established by fund. SABHRS is designed to provide budgetary control by preventing spending in excess
of legislative and administrative authority. SABHRS also provides for encumbrance accounting as a
technique for accomplishing budgetary control.

General Fund Balance

For fiscal year 2022, the total fund balance of the General Fund was reported at approximately $2.0
billion. Of this balance, $9.5 million is non-spendable. The remaining balance is spendable with $118.9
million committed, $94.6 million assigned, and $1.8 billion unassigned. The committed fund balance of
$118.9 million is the balance from the Budget Stabilization Reserve Fund, which is combined with the
General Fund for financial statement presentation purposes. Of the assigned fund balance, $19.6 million
relates to outstanding encumbrances at the end of the fiscal year and $75.0 million relates to an
anticipated spend down for fiscal year 2023. The increase in ending fund balance, when compared to
fiscal year 2021, was the result of higher revenue and lower expenditures. Further detail on the
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breakdown of fund balance for the General Fund can be found in Note 14 — Major Purpose Presentation
of this report.

For fiscal year 2021, the total fund balance of the General Fund was reported at approximately $856.3
million. Of this balance, $5.2 million was non-spendable. The remaining $851.1 million was spendable
with $95.4 million assigned and $641.5 million unassigned. The assigned fund balances was comprised
of outstanding encumbrances and an anticipated spend down at the end of the fiscal year.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United State and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of Montana for its annual
comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. In order to be awarded a
Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable ad efficiently organized annual
comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles
and applicable legal requirements.

The preparation of this report on a timely basis could not be accomplished without the efficient and
dedicated service of the entire staff of the Statewide Accounting Bureau — Statewide Accounting and
Financial Reporting Section (SAFRS), the cooperation of accounting personnel at the individual state
agencies, and staff in the Governor’s Office of Budget and Program Planning. We would like to express
our appreciation to all personnel who participated in the preparation of this document. We would also like
to thank the Legislature and all state agencies for their interest and support in planning and conducting
the financial operations of the State in a professional, fiscally responsible, and progressive manner.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl Jennifer Thompson

Jennifer Thompson

State Accountant

State Financial Services Division
Department of Administration
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LEGISLATIVE AUDIT DIVISION

Deputy Legislative Auditors:
Cindy Jorgenson
William Soller

Angus Maciver, Legislative Auditor
Deborah F. Butler, Legal Counsel

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The Legislative Audit Committee
of the Montana State Legislature:

REroRrRT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the state of Montana, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the state of Montana’s basic financial statements
as follows:

¢ Statement of Net Position

¢ Statement of Activities

¢ Balance Sheet-Governmental Funds

¢ Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position
¢ Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances—Governmental Funds

¢ Reconcdiliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

¢ Statement of Fund Net Position—Proprietary Funds

¢ Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position—Proprietary Funds
¢ Statement of Cash Flows—Proprietary Funds

¢ Statement of Fiduciary Net Position—Fiduciary Funds

¢ Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position—Fiduciary Funds.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditors, the accompanying financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component
units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the state of Montana, as

of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of the Montana State University (MSU) component
units, the University of Montana (UM) component units, or the Montana Reinsurance Association
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(MRA) which represent 16.78 percent, 30.46 percent, and 2.91 percent, respectively of the assets,

net position, and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units as of June 30, 2022.
Those statements were audited by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts for the component units of UM and MSU and the MRA
component unit is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepred in the United

States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the state of Montana and to
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. We believe thar the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions. The financial statements of MSU’s component units and UM’s component
units were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Empbhasis of Matters

As discussed in Note 2A with further details in Note 1M and a variety of other note disclosures, the
state of Montana implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No.
87, Leases. GASB 87 requires the state to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease
assct for lessee activity and a lease receivable and deferred inflow of resources for lessor activity. Our
opinions are not modified with respect to this marter.

As discussed in Note 2B, MRA is a new discretely presented component unit for the State. Condensed
financial statements for MRA can be found at Note 18. Our opinion is not modified with respect to
this martter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for

the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the state of Montana’s ability
to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any
currently known information thar may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government
Auwditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting
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a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or
in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
¢ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughourt the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures thar are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the state of Montana’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

¢ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, thar raise substantial doubt about the state of Montana’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Managements Discussion and Analysis, the Budgetary Comparison Schedule, the Pension Plan
Information, the Other Postemployment Benefits Plan Information (OPEB), and the Risk Management
Trend Information, and the related notes, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consists of inquiries of management
abour the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion ar provide assurance.
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Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the State of Montana’s basic financial statements as a whole. The combining
statements listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not

a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining statements are the responsibility of
management and wete derived from and relate directly to the undetlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the combining statements
are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is tesponsible for the other informarion included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover
the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and
the basic financial statements, or the other informartion otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected marerial misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Reprort oN OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Gevernment Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 22,
2023, on our consideration of the state of Montana’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other marters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide

an opinion on the effectiveness of the state of Montana’s internal control over financial reporting or

on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the state of Montana’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance. It is included in the Legislative Auditor’s separately issued report (22-01).

Respectfully submitted,

4/ Ciney Jorgenson

Cindy Jorgenson, CPA
Deputy Legislative Auditor
Helena, MT

March 22, 2023
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

Management of the State of Montana (State) provides this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the
State of Montana’s basic financial statements included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
(ACFR). This is a narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the State of Montana for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. We encourage readers to consider this information in conjunction with
the additional information that is furnished in the State’s financial statements, which follow.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-wide

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the State exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources at the end of fiscal year 2022 by $12.7 billion compared with $11.0 billion at the end of fiscal
year 2021, representing a 15.1% increase in net position. Component units reported net position of $2.51
billion at the end of fiscal year 2022 compared to $2.47 billion at the end of fiscal year 2021, representing
a 1.7% increase in net position. More detail is provided in the financial statement overview below.

Fund Level

As of the close of fiscal year 2022, the State’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $7.0 billion compared with $5.7 billion at fiscal year 2021. This represents a $1.3 billion
(23.3%) increase in total fund balance. Of the 2022 balance, $2.0 billion is not in spendable form,
primarily as permanent fund principal. Thus, $5.0 billion is available for spending. The fund balance in
spendable form is segregated by constraint as follows: $1.2 billion restricted, $1.9 billion committed, $95.3
million assigned, and $1.7 billion unassigned. These changes are discussed in more detail in the financial
analysis of the State’s major funds presented below.

The State’s business-type activity funds reported net position at the close of fiscal year 2022 in the
amount of $683.6 million compared with fiscal year 2021 net position of $566.7 million. Of the 2022
business-type activity net position, $21.3 million was reported as net investment in capital assets. Net
position of $662.3 million was in spendable form with $18.3 million unrestricted and $644.0 million
restricted to expenditure for a specific purpose. This represents a $117.0 million (21.5%) increase in
spendable net position from the fiscal year 2021 balance of $545.3 million. These changes are discussed
in more detail in the financial analysis of the State’s major funds presented below.

Long-term Debt

The State’s total governmental activity bonds and notes payable for governmental activities decreased by
$8.1 million, from $171.3 million in fiscal year 2021 to $163.2 million, a (4.7)% decrease in fiscal year
2022. Further detail relating to the State’s long-term debt is provided in notes to the financial statement’s
Note 11.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the State of Montana’s basic
financial statements. The State’s basic financial statements include three components: (1) government-
wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements. The
report also contains additional required supplementary information, which includes budgetary schedules,
pension and other post employment benefits plan information, and risk management trends. These
components are described below:

Basic Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include two types of financial statements that present different views of the
State — the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements. These financial
statements also include the notes to the financial statements, which provide further detail and information
related to the balances of the financial statements.

21



Montana Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements provide a broad view of the State’s operations in a manner
similar to a private-sector business. The statements provide both short-term and long-term information
about the State’s financial position, which assists in assessing the State’s economic condition at the end
of the fiscal year. These are prepared using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. In other words, they follow methods that are similar to those used by most
businesses, including all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year, even if cash involved has
not been received or paid. The government-wide financial statements include two statements: The
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, as defined below.

The Statement of Net Position presents all of the government’'s assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position. Over time, increases or decreases in the State’s
net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the State is improving or
deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information related to the government’s net position changes during
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses
are reported in this statement for some items that will not result in cash flows until future fiscal periods.
This statement also presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function of the State.

Both of the above financial statements have separate sections for three different types of state activities.
These three types of activities are as follows:

Governmental Activities — Activities mostly supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, including
federal grants. Most services normally associated with state government fall into this category, including
education (support for both K-12 public schools and higher education), general government, health and
human services, natural resources, public safety, and transportation.

Business-type Activities — Functions normally intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs
through user fees and charges to external users of goods and services. The major business-type
activities of the State include the Unemployment Insurance Fund and the Municipal Finance Programs,
which assists Montana’s small businesses and local governments in obtaining long-term, fixed-rate
financing through private Montana lending institutions.

Discretely Presented Component Units — Operations for which the State has financial accountability, but
have certain independent qualities as well. In order to be considered component units, these entities must
be legally separate to the extent that they may sue, or be sued, in their own right. For the most part, these
entities operate similarly to private sector businesses and the business-type activities described above.
The State’s component units consist of one financing authority, one housing board, one nonprofit
independent public corporation, one nonprofit association, and two universities.

Fund Financial Statements - Reporting the State’s Major Funds

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The State, like other state and local governments, uses
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

The fund financial statements focus on individual parts of the state government, reporting the State’s
operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. All of the funds can be divided into three
categories. It is important to note that these fund categories use different accounting approaches and
should be interpreted individually. The three categories of funds are as follows:

Governmental Funds — Most of the basic services provided by the State are financed through

governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
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wide financial statements, the governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and
outflows of spendable resources. They also focus on the balances of spendable resources available at
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the government’s near-term
financing requirements. This approach is known as using the flow of current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. These statements provide a detailed
short-term view of the State’s finances that assists in determining whether there will be adequate financial
resources available to meet the current needs of the State.

The State has five governmental funds that are considered major funds for presentation purposes. Each
major fund is presented in a separate column in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The State’s five
major governmental funds are the General Fund, the State Special Revenue Fund, the Federal Special
Revenue Fund, the Coal Severance Tax Fund, and the Land Grant Fund.

Proprietary Funds — When the State charges customers for the service it provides, whether to outside
customers or to other agencies within the State, these services are generally reported in proprietary
funds. Like the government-wide statements, proprietary fund statements utilize full accrual accounting,
the same method used by private sector businesses. Enterprise funds report activities that provide
supplies and services to the general public. Whereas internal service funds report activities that provide
supplies and services to the State’s other programs and activities.

Fiduciary Funds — Resources held for the benefit of parties outside state government are accounted for in
fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the
resources of these funds are not available to support the State’s own programs. Fiduciary fund
statements use the full accrual basis of accounting.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a full
understanding of the government-wide and the fund financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements can be found immediately following the fiduciary fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

The basic financial statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information. This
section contains a budgetary comparison schedule, which includes the reconciliation between the
statutory fund balance for budgetary purposes and the fund balance for the General Fund and major
special revenue funds as presented in the governmental fund financial statements. Required
supplementary information also includes pension and other post employment benefits plan information, as
well as additional risk management trend data.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Montana’s overall financial position increased from the last fiscal year, as reflected in the $1.7 billion
increase (15.1%) in net position. This improvement resulted from the continued growth, particularly in tax
revenue. However, growth is not expected to persevere in fiscal year 2023, as the associated financial
and economical affects of the pandemic continue to be realized.

Net Position

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. The State’s combined net position (government and business-type activities) totaled $12.7 billion
at the end of fiscal year 2022. Net position of both governmental and business-type activities increased by
$1.5 billion (14.8%) and increased by $116.9 million (20.6%), respectively. These changes are explained
in detail in the Financial Analysis of the State's Major Funds section.

A portion of the State’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets such as land, buildings,
equipment, right to use lease assets, and infrastructure (roads, bridges, and other immovable assets) less
any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The State uses these capital assets
to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although
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the State’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the State’s net position represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position may be used to
meet the State’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. Internally imposed designations of
resources are not presented as restricted net position.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the State reported positive balances in all three categories of Net
position, both for the primary government as a whole, and for its separate governmental and business-
type activities.

Net Position

June 30,
(expressed in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022
Current and other assets $ 7,849,347 $§ 10,020,507 $ 746,786 $ 791,818 $ 8,596,133 § 10,812,325
Capital assets 7,067,035 7,355,729 21,377 25,366 7,088,412 7,381,095
Total assets 14,916,382 17,376,236 768,163 817,184 15,684,545 18,193,420
Deferred outflows of resources 1,031,934 763,888 5,792 5172 1,037,726 769,060
Long-term liabilities

Due in more than one year 3,535,117 2,543,371 23,131 88,949 3,558,248 2,632,320
Other liabilities 1,823,324 2,231,649 181,844 43,717 2,005,168 2,275,366
Total liabilities 5,358,441 4,775,020 204,975 132,666 5,563,416 4,907,686
Deferred inflows of resources 163,799 1,397,841 2,299 6,087 166,098 1,403,928
Net investment in capital assets 6,962,944 7,094,224 21,360 21,284 6,984,304 7,115,508
Restricted 3,574,995 3,603,589 520,696 644,005 4,095,691 4,247,594
Unrestricted (111,863) 1,269,450 24,625 18,314 (87,238) 1,287,764
Total net position $ 10,426,076 $ 11,967,263 $ 566,681 $ 683,603 $ 10,992,757 § 12,650,866
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The following condensed financial information was derived from the government-wide Statement
of Activities, and reflects how the State’s net position changed during the fiscal year:
Changes in Net Position

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
(expressed in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022
Revenues:
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 693,875 $ 737,036 $ 519,186 $ 540,409 $ 1,213,061 $ 1,277,445
Operating grants 4,441,208 3,658,290 68,576 68,639 4,509,784 3,726,929
Capital grants 531,666 479,184 883 873 532,549 480,057
General revenues
Taxes 3,170,440 4,103,161 38,141 40,064 3,208,581 4,143,225
Other 130,057 40,766 555,820 27,345 685,877 68,111
Total revenues 8,967,246 9,018,437 1,182,606 677,330 10,149,852 9,695,767
Expenses:
General government 1,699,213 970,869 1,699,213 970,869
Public safety 544,839 477,120 544,839 477,120
Transportation 611,537 699,407 611,537 699,407
Health and human service 3,418,518 3,383,554 3,418,518 3,383,554
Education 1,492,682 1,600,965 1,492,682 1,600,965
Natural resources 361,420 390,791 361,420 390,791
Interest on long-term debt 5,026 5,724 5,026 5,724
Unemployment Insurance 728,476 62,150 728,476 62,150
Liquor Stores 120,913 120,008 120,913 120,008
State Lottery 99,353 99,402 99,353 99,402
Municipal Finance Programs 1,602 853 1,602 853
Hail Insurance 796 943 796 943
Other Services 81,765 78,623 81,765 78,623
Prison Funds 7,042 7,523 7,042 7,523
MUS Group Insurance 106,068 120,522 106,068 120,522
MUS Workers Comp 2,852 1,401 2,852 1,401
Total expenses 8,133,235 7,528,430 1,148,867 491,425 9,282,102 8,019,855
Increase (decrease) in net
position before transfers 834,011 1,490,007 33,739 185,905 867,750 1,675,912
Transfers (138,881) 69,224 138,881 (69,224) — —
Change in net position 695,130 1,559,231 172,620 116,681 867,750 1,675,912
Net position, beg of year
(as adjusted) 9,730,946 10,408,032 394,061 566,922 10,125,007 10,974,954
Net position, end of year $ 10426076 § 11,967,263 $ 566,681 $ 683,603 § 10,992,757 § 12,650,866
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Governmental Activities

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

The following chart depicts revenues of the governmental activities for the fiscal year:

Revenues - Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Other: 0.5% \

Charges for Services: 8.2%

Grants: 40.6%
Taxes: 45.5% —

Capital Grants: 5.3%

The following chart depicts expenses of the governmental activities for the fiscal year:

Expense - Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

General Government: 12.9% "\

Public Safety: 6.3% \

Transportation: 9.3% ———

N\
L

Interest on Long-Term Debt: 0.1% \ Natural Resources: 5.2%

Education: 21.3%

Health and Human Services: 44.9%
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Business-type Activities
The following chart depicts revenues of the business-type activities for the fiscal year:

Revenues - Business-type Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Operating Grants: 10.1%
Capital Grants: 0.1%
Taxes: 5.9%
Other: 4.0%

Services: 79.9%

The following chart depicts expenses of the business-type activities for the fiscal year:

Expenses - Business-type Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Prison Funds: 1.5%
Gen Govt Services: 16.0%

Hail Insurance: 0.2% MUS Group Insurance : 24.5%

Municipal Finance: 0.2%

State Lottery: 20.3% ——— MUS Workers Comp: 0.3%

Unemployment Insurance: 12.7%

Liquor Stores: 24.4%
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S MAJOR FUNDS

As the State completed the year, its governmental funds reported fund balances of $7.0 billion. Of this
total, $5.0 billion (71.7%) constitutes spendable fund balance and $2.0 billion (28.3%) is classified as non-
spendable. The analysis of the following major funds, providing the majority of the fund balance for the
government, follows.

General Fund Revenues and Expenditures

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State. For fiscal year 2022, the total fund balance of
the General Fund was reported at approximately $2.0 billion. Of this balance, $9.5 million is non-
spendable. The remaining balance is spendable with $118.9 million committed, $94.6 million assigned,
and $1.8 billion unassigned. This spendable fund balance of the General Fund represents 39.7% of the
$5.0 billion spendable governmental fund balances for all governmental funds. Of the assigned fund
balance, $75.0 million pertains to the projected general fund spend down of fund balance in fiscal year
2023 and $19.6 million relates to outstanding encumbrances at the end of the fiscal year. The committed
fund balance of $118.9 million relates to the balance of the Budget Stabilization Reserve Fund, which is
combined with the General Fund for financial statement presentation. Further detail on the breakdown of
fund balance for the General Fund is provided in Note 14 — Major Purpose Presentation.

Total fund balance increased by $1.1 billion when compared to the previously reported fund balance of
$856.3 million. Changes in both expenditures and revenues are discussed in detail below. The 2021
legislative session projected $357.1 million of unassigned fund balance for fiscal year 2022, without
regard to a fund balance spend down. The difference was primarily the result of a larger than anticipated
beginning fund balance, larger than anticipated revenues, and smaller than anticipated expenditures.

General Fund Revenues — Total General Fund revenues were $3.7 billion for fiscal year 2022 (higher than
legislative estimation), a 28.6% increase from the $2.8 billion reported in 2021 (which were higher than
legislative estimation). Fiscal year 2022 tax revenue increased by 30.2% in total over 2021, with corporate
income tax collections up 11.1% and individual income tax collections increased by 37.2%. The large tax
revenue gains were the result of the strong economic conditions of the state coming out of the COVID-19
restrictions. In addition, the large federal spending provisions implemented during fiscal year 2021
increased disposable incomes for individuals, state governments, and businesses. Other noted increases
in revenues included licenses/permits and charges for services/fines/forfeits/settlements.

General Fund Expenditures — Total General Fund expenditures for fiscal year 2022 increased by $49.3
million (2.1%). This increase in expenditures occurred in the health and human services, education,
natural resource, and public safety functions; and the decrease in expenditures occurred in the general
government and transportation function as follows:

«  General government expenditures decreased by $2.2 million (0.6%)

« Transportation expenditures decreased by $173.0 thousand

« Health and human services expenditures increased by $13.3 million (2.7%)

«  Education expenditures increased by $20.8 million (1.9%)

« Natural resources expenditure increased by $295.0 thousand (0.8%)

» Public safety expenditures increased by $10.8 million (3.5%)

The expenditures in the education function increased partially due to OPI K-12 Base Aid increase.

The General Fund’'s actual revenues and expenditures in comparison to budgeted revenues and
expenditures is provided in more depth on the Budgetary Comparison Schedule within the Required
Supplementary Information section of this report. The same level of detail used to report the actual
revenues and expenditures is not readily available for all budgetary revenues and expenditures, which
may cause some variances.

General Fund Expenditure Budget Reversions

Fund balances are not reserved for reverted appropriations. For fiscal year 2022, General Fund
appropriations that reverted to 2023 were $14.2 million, detailed as follows:
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* The Department of Public Health and Human Services had unspent appropriations of
$2.4 million related to the costs reimbursed by federal funding associated with
COVID-19 and other operational costs.

« The Department of Corrections had unspent appropriations of $1.0 million related to
restricted funds as a contingency for the county jail bed holds, information technology
and for an adjustment for worker's comp reverted back to the general fund.

« The Judicial Branch had unspent appropriations of $3.4 million related to vacancy
savings, operational costs, and benefits and claims.

« The Department of Revenue had unspent appropriations of $2.2 million related to
funds available to local governing bodies pursuant to Section 15-1-402 (6)(d), MCA,
regarding protested property taxes, Section 15-1-120, MCA, regarding entitlement
share payments, and other operational costs.

« The Office of the Governor had unspent appropriations of $1.1 million related to
vacancy savings and operational cost savings.

* The Department of Natural Resources and Conservation had unspent appropriations
of $1.2 million related to unspent operation costs associated with vacancy savings
and personal services costs.

«  The remaining unspent appropriation of $2.9 million was attributable to miscellaneous
reversions across other agencies.

State Special Revenue Fund

The fund balance of the State Special Revenue Fund increased by $92.7 million to $2.1 billion. Revenues
increased by $88.7 million (7.9%) and expenditures increased $116.8 million (9.8%), for fiscal year 2022.
The largest increases in revenues are attributable to an increase in natural resource and other taxes, and
licenses and permits. The largest increases in expenditures are attributable to general government and
natural resources expenditures. Other financing sources increases included increased energy
conservation loans, and more excess lands were sold by Montana Department of Transportation due to
legislative action making it easier to make purchases through an online portal. Other financing sources,
such as bond issued, decreased due to a decrease in new bonds issued. Other financing uses, such as
transfers out of the State Special Revenue Fund to other governmental funds decreased. The effect of
transfers into the State Special Revenue Fund from other governmental funds resulted in an increase in
fund balance.

Federal Special Revenue Fund

The fund balance of the Federal Special Revenue Fund decreased by $14.0 million (123.3%) to the
balance of negative $25.3 million. Revenues and expenditures decreased by $822.7 million (17.1%) and
$611.8 million (13.4%) respectively, for the fiscal year 2022. Revenue decreases are attributable to
decreases in federal program revenue, including COVID-19 related federal funding. Expenditure
decreases are attributable to decreases in general government, health and human services, public safety,
transportation, and natural resources related expenditures. The education related expenditure increases
are attributable to COVID-19.

Coal Severance Tax Permanent Fund

The fund balance of the Coal Severance Tax Permanent Fund decreased by $12.8 million (1.0%) to $1.2
billion. Revenue decreased by $23.3 million (58.4%) to $16.6 million, primarily due to a decrease of
investment earnings.

Land Grant Permanent Fund

The fund balance of the Land Grant Permanent Fund increased by $2.3 million (0.3%) to $873.9 million.
Revenue decreased by $22.9 million to a total of $70.7 million, and the investment earnings were
attributable to the decrease. Primarily, income generated by the State's trust lands resulted in an increase
in fund balance.

The State's proprietary funds financial statements provided the same type of information founded in the

government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. As the State completed the year, the enterprise
funds reported fund balances of $683.6 million. Of this total, $662.3 million (96.9%) constitutes spendable
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net position and $21.3 million (3.1%) is classified as net investment in capital assets. The analysis of the
following major enterprise funds, providing the majority of the net position for the business-type activities,
follows.

Unemployment Insurance Enterprise Fund

Net position restricted for unemployment compensation increased by $123.0 million (30.7%). The
increase in net position is attributable to lower unemployment claims and CARES Act funding from the
Governor’s Office to help maintain trust fund balances in an effort to keep rates from raising and placing
an undue burden on employers in fiscal year 2022.

Municipal Finance Programs Fund

Net position increased by 5.9% to $5.2 million in fiscal year 2022. Financing income revenue increased
$8.0 thousand, and investment earnings increased $13.0 thousand, while expenses from interest
expense decreased $432.0 thousand. Overall revenues and expenditures decreased 1.6% and 46.8%,
respectively, which resulted in an increase of $292.0 thousand to net position.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The State’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities, as of June 30,
2022, amounted to $10.0 billion, with related accumulated depreciation of $2.6 billion, leaving a net book
value of $7.4 billion. This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, equipment,
right to use lease assets, infrastructure, intangible assets, and construction in progress. Infrastructure
assets are items that are normally immovable and of value only to the State, such as roads, bridges,
streets and sidewalks, drainage systems, lighting systems, and similar items.

The total increase in the State’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was $292.7 million
or 4.1% in terms of net book value. Most increases in capital expenditures were seen in construction, or
reconstruction, of roads and bridges. Additional information relating to the State’s capital assets can be
found in Note 5 of the notes to the financial statements.

Debt Administration

Montana continues to receive excellent general obligation bond ratings from Moody’s Investor Service
(Aa1), Standard and Poor’s Corporation (AA), and Fitch Ratings (AA+), which remain unchanged from
2021.

State debt may be authorized either by a two-thirds vote of the members of each house of the Legislature
or by a favorable vote of a majority of the State’s electors voting thereon. There is no constitutional limit
on the amount of debt that may be incurred by the State. The Montana Constitution does, however,
prohibit the incurring of debt to cover deficits caused by appropriations exceeding anticipated revenue.

The State of Montana’s general obligation debt increased from $127.6 million at June 30, 2021, to $130.8
million at June 30, 2022. There is cash available, of $8.2 million at the end of fiscal year 2022, in debt
service funds to service general obligation debt.

The below table contains the ratio of general obligation debt and total State debt to personal income and
to the amount of debt per capita:

Amount Percentage of . State Debt2
(in thousands) Personal Income " Per Capita ®
General obligation debt $ 130,772 0.21% $ 118
Total State debt $ 394,833 0.60% $ 345
M Based on personal income for calendar year 2021.
@ Based on estimated 2021 Montana population.
@ Based on total of general obligation bonds, special revenue bonds, notes payable, and lease/financed purchase payable for the

percentage and state debt per capita.
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More detailed information regarding the State’s long-term obligations is provided in Note 11 of the notes to
the financial statements and in the statistical tables.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

The State was allocated $2.0 billion from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) during fiscal year 2021.
The legislature has appropriated approximately $1.8 billion and enacted laws to allow appropriations to
continue into the 2025 bienniums. The programs designated by the legislature for ARPA funding are
infrastructure, communications, broadband, economic transformation and stabilization, workforce
development, housing, and health. ARPA funds spent before June 30, 2022, totaled $287.0 million. Since
June 30, 2022, another $203.0 million has been spent. The State plans to spend all funds received by
June 30, 2026.

Montana’s primary economic base remains concentrated in service-providing industries. By share of real
gross state product (GSP), the financial activities sector (18%), the trade, transportation, and utilities
sector (18%), and the education and health services sector (11%) were Montana’s largest in 2021.
Manufacturing in Montana accounted for 6.5% of 2021 real GSP and is the state’s largest goods-providing
industry. Per the 2022 Labor Day Report issued by the Montana Department of Labor and Industry,
Montana is experiencing a booming economy, with more Montanans working than ever. Businesses have
continued to thrive, grow, and increase production in the face of worker shortages by increasing
productivity and raising wages to attract workers. Montana's average annual wage recorded nominal
growth of 5.9% in 2021, ranking the 10" fastest among states. Montana’s unemployment rate dropped
quickly after the pandemic recession, reaching a historic low of 2.3% in March and April of 2022 while the
national rate stood at 3.6%. Rapid economic expansion has brought prosperity, but fast growth creates
additional pressure on an already constrained labor market. Tight labor markets will continue to challenge
Montana's economic growth.

Montana had an estimated 1,106,227 population as of July 1, 2021. The Montana labor market had total
nonfarm workers of 514,400 in August 2022 compared to 481,800 in August 2021. A more in-depth
analysis of the State’s overall financial position can be found in the transmittal letter of this report.

The Montana Constitution, Article VIII, Section 15, states that public retirement systems shall be funded
on an actuarially sound basis. Public pension plans are considered actuarially sound if the unfunded
accrued actuarial liability amortization period is within 30 years. As of June 30, 2022, the Public
Employees Retirement System-Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (PERS-DBRP), the Highway Patrol
Officers' Retirement System (HPORS), the Sheriffs' Retirement System (SRS), and the Game Warden &
Peace Officers’ Retirement System (GWPORS) were not in compliance and did not amortize within 30
years. The unfunded liabilities in the other state retirement systems amortized in 30 years or less as of
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.

The actuarial condition of these retirement plans is disclosed in greater detail in Note 6 of the financial
statements. The unfunded actuarial liability of these plans is long-term in nature and does not translate
into an inability of the plans to meet their current obligations in the near future.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the State of Montana’s finances for all of
Montana’s citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors. The financial report seeks to
demonstrate the State’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to the State
of Montana, Statewide Accounting Bureau, Room 255 Mitchell Building, PO Box 200102, Helena, MT
59620.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2022
(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS
Cash/cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables, net (Note 4)
Due from primary government
Due from other governments
Due from component units
Internal balances
Inventories
Advances to component units
Long-term loans/notes/leases receivable (Note 4)
Equity in pooled investments (Note 3)
Investments (Note 3)
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Net pension asset (Note 6)
Other assets

Depreciable capital assets and infrastructure, net (Note 5)

Land and nondepreciable capital assets (Note 5)
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 4)

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable (Note 4)
Lottery prizes payable
Due to primary government
Due to other governments
Due to component units
Due to pension trust funds
Advances from primary government
Unearned revenue
Amounts held in custody for others
Securities lending liability (Note 3)
Other liabilities
Long-term liabilities (Note 11):
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Net pension liability (Note 6)
Total OPEB liability (Note 7)
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 4)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
GOVERNMENTAL _ BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL UNITS
$ 5,135,042 § 618664 $ 5753706 $ 628,703
639,322 66,220 705,542 139,329
— — — 2,006
361,885 229 362,114 43,602
567 1,310 1,877 263
15,426 (15,426) — —
35,074 6,746 41,820 4,692
8,971 7,746 16,717 —
892,186 85,137 977,323 596,157
2,617,579 17,392 2,634,971 90,939
198,656 1,836 200,492 2,374,568
39,097 266 40,263 14,085
59,202 — 59,202 —
16,600 1,698 18,298 23,052
4,862,426 17,310 4,879,736 976,371
2,493,303 8,056 2,501,359 104,221
17,376,236 817184 18,193,420 4,997,988
763,888 5172 769,060 126,342
803,759 23,441 827,200 75,391
— 4,385 4,385 —
— — — 1877
48,316 356 48,672 341
2,006 — 2,006 263
37,558 — 37,558 —
— — — 16,717
1,053,800 2,350 1,056,150 97,198
56,604 32 56,636 13,935
39,997 266 40,263 14,085
5,228 — 5,228 22,150
184,381 12,887 197,268 212,881
508,857 76,329 585,186 1,817,999
1,915,996 10,590 1,926,586 160,424
118,518 2,030 120,548 50,480
4,775,020 132,666 4,907,686 2,483,741
1,397,841 6,087 1,403,928 130,931
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
GOVERNMENTAL  BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL UNITS
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 7,094,224 $ 21,284 $ 7,115,508 $ 715,379
Restricted for:

General government 11,754 — 11,754 —
Transportation 138,784 — 138,784 —
Health and human service 37,543 — 37,543 —
Natural resources 680,896 — 680,896 —
Public safety 182,254 — 182,254 —
Education 38,017 — 38,017 —

Funds held as permanent investments:
Nonexpendable 1,949,254 — 1,949,254 512,195
Expendable 565,087 — 565,087 —
Unemployment compensation — 523,827 523,827 —
Montana Board of Housing — — — 160,180
Other purposes (Note 1) — 120,178 120,178 306,689
Unrestricted 1,269,450 18,314 1,287,764 815,215
Total net position $ 11,967,263 §$ 683,603 § 12,650,866 $ 2,509,658

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
(amounts expressed in thousands)

PROGRAM REVENUES
OPERATING CAPITAL
CHARGES GRANTS GRANTS NET
FOR AND AND (EXPENSE)
FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS EXPENSES SERVICES CONTRIBUTIONS CONTRIBUTIONS REVENUE
Primary government:
Governmental activities:

General government $ 970,869 $ 243,057 $ 338,592 § 838 §$ (388,382)

Public safety 477,120 206,407 15,613 — (255,100)

Transportation 699,407 35,138 60,155 447,988 (156,126)

Health and human services 3,383,554 32,735 2,710,469 648 (639,702)

Education 1,600,965 4,477 419,520 662 (1,176,306)

Natural resources 390,791 215,222 113,941 29,048 (32,580)

Interest on long-term debt 5,724 — — — (5,724)

Total governmental activities 7,528,430 737,036 3,658,290 479,184 (2,653,920)
Business-type activities:

Unemployment Insurance 62,150 139,413 16,636 — 93,899

Liquor Stores 120,008 141,984 — — 21,976

State Lottery 99,402 116,051 — — 16,649

Municipal Finance Programs 853 — 1,145 — 292

Hail Insurance 943 764 3 — (176)

Other Service 78,623 31,612 51,029 873 4,891

Prison Funds 7,523 6,908 — — (615)

MUS" Group Insurance 120,522 102,059 (93) — (18,556)

MUS' Workers Compensation 1,401 1,618 (81) — 136

Total business-type activities 491,425 540,409 68,639 873 118,496

Total primary government § 8019855 § 1,277,445 § 3,726,929 $ 480,057 §  (2,535,424)
Component units:

Montana Board of Housing $ 17,997 $ 2,644 $ 15,018 $ — 95 (335)

Facility Finance Authority 643 1,153 88 — 598

Montana Reinsurance Association 31,732 — 17,627 — (14,105)

Montana State Fund 210,273 159,680 — — (50,593)

Montana State University 686,933 314,355 275,191 18,983 (78,404)

University of Montana 483,135 177,511 160,404 2,209 (143,011)
Total component units $§ 1430713 § 655,343 § 468,328 $ 21,192 § (285,850)

"Montana University System
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PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
GOVERNMENTAL  BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL UNITS
Changes in net position:
Net (expense) revenue $ (2,653,920) $ 118,496 §  (2,535424) $ (285,850)
General revenues:
Taxes:
Property 369,202 — 369,202 —
Fuel 282,834 — 282,834 —
Natural resource 265,937 — 265,937 —
Individual income 2,365,833 — 2,365,833 —
Corporate income 298,217 — 298,217 —
Other (Note 1) 521,138 40,064 561,202 —
Unrestricted grants and contributions 17,977 19,705 37,682 —
Settlements 32,973 — 32,973 —
Unrestricted investment earnings (losses) (25,107) 13 (25,094) 33,021
Transfers from primary government — — — 265,466
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 8,291 294 8,585 (598)
Miscellaneous 6,632 7,333 13,965 830
Contributions to term and permanent endowments — — — 61,195
Transfers between primary government 69,224 (69,224) — —
Total general revenues, contributions, and transfers 4,213,151 (1,815) 4,211,336 359,914
Change in net position 1,559,231 116,681 1,675,912 74,064
Total net position - July 1 - as previously reported 10,426,076 566,681 10,992,757 2,467,939
Adjustments to beginning net position (Note 2) (18,044) 241 (17,803) (32,345)
Total net position - July 1 - as adjusted 10,408,032 566,922 10,974,954 2,435,594
Total net position - June 30 $ 11,967,263 §$ 683,603 § 12,650,866 $ 2,509,658

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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General Fund — the principal operating fund of the State. It accounts for all

governmental financial resources, except those accounted for in another fund.

State Spedal Revenue Fund — accounts for all activities funded from state sources,
which are restricted either legally or administratively for particular costs of an agency.

program. or function.

Federal Special Revenue Fund — accounts for all activities funded from federal

sources, which are used in the operation of the state government.

Coal Sewerance Tax Fund — created by Article IX, Section 5, of the Montana
Constitution and administered by the Department of Revenue. This fund receives 50%
of all coal tax collections. The principal can by expended only upon affirmation vote by

three-fourths of each house of the Legislature.

Land Grant Fund — used by the Department of Natural Resources and Conservation
to account for lands granted to the State for support of public schools and state

institutions.

Nonmajor Governmental Funds — presented in more detail, by fund type, within the

Supplementary Information section.
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BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS

Cash/cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables (net)

Interfund loans receivable (Note 12)
Due from other governments

Due from other funds (Note 12)

Due from component units
Inventories

Equity in pooled investments (Note 3)
Long-term loans/notes/leases receivable
Advances to other funds (Note 12)
Advances to component units
Investments (Note 3)

Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Interfund loans payable (Note 12)
Due to other governments
Due to other funds (Note 12)
Due to component units
Advances from other funds (Note 12)
Unearned revenue
Amounts held in custody for others
Securities lending liability (Note 3)
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Fund balances (Note 14):
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balances

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

SPECIAL REVENUE
GENERAL STATE FEDERAL

$ 1,974,907 § 1,257,072 $ 1,098,359

348,149 153,404 85,370

114,628 64,601 -

11,950 2,324 347,418

51,139 11,257 809

- 321 -

5,906 22,686 -

- 371,245 -

- 506,500 3,604

2,780 48,184 -

- 1,662 -

10,132 3,504 -

- 5673 -

2,689 10,111 500

$ 2,522,280 2,458,544 $ 1,536,060

$ 324,987 192,005 $ 261,584

- 11,878 162,811

425 46,369 1,521

1,193 26,912 6,218

37,629 444 1,491

- 4,561 48,186

34 23,514 1,029,388

9,136 43220 937

- 5673 -

— 331 —

373,404 354,907 512,136

152,257 31,708 49,199

9,521 23,576 202

- 1,198,509 -

118,904 849,844 -

94,626 - -

1,773,568 - (25,477)

1,996,619 2,071,929 (25,275)

$ 2,522,280 $ 2,458,544 $ 1,536,060
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PERMANENT
COAL
SEVERANCE LAND
TAX GRANT NONMAJOR TOTAL
$ 54262 $ 41894 § 409,358 $ 4,835,852
16,828 8,937 13,491 626,179
- - - 179,229
— — — 361,692
- - 5,085 68,290
116 - 130 567
- - - 28,592
959,058 831,546 416,484 2,579,233
- 364,880 17,202 892,186
- - 4,561 55,505
7,249 - 60 8,971
182,723 — — 196,359
14,668 12,706 6,364 39,411
— 31 — 13,331
$ 1235804 $ 1259,994 § 872,735 § 9,885,417
$ - 9§ 5154 § 783,739
1,931 9 2473 179,102
- - - 48315
540 — 14 34,877
— — — 39,564
- - 2,278 55,025
- - - 1,052,936
- 2,896 12 56,201
14,668 12,706 6,364 39,411
— — — 331
17,139 15,620 16,295 2,289,501
2,358 370,435 1,030 606,987
662,613 873,939 410,852 1,980,703
- - 32,477 1,230,986
553,694 — 412,390 1,934,832
- - 703 95,329
— — 1,012) 1,747,079
1,216,307 873,939 855,410 6,988,929
$ 1,235,804 $ 1,259,994 § 872,735 $ 9,885,417
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RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Total fund balances - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different due to:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and therefore not
reported in the governmental funds (Note 5):

Depreciable capital assets and infrastructure, net
Land and nondepreciable capital assets

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that will be reported as an
outflow of resources in a future period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds.

Other assets not available in the current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental
funds:

Net pension asset
Long-term receivables

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as
insurance and central computer services, to individual governmental funds. The assets and liabilities
of the internal service funds are included in the governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position, excluding internal service funds' capital assets, deferred outflows of resources, deferred
inflows of resources and long-term liabilities reported in specific areas.

Other liabilities that are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the
governmental funds.

A portion of deferred inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net assets that will be
recognized as an inflow of resources in a future period, which differs than that reported in the
governmental funds.

Long-term liabilities and related accrued interest are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds (Note 11):

Other long-term liabilities
Net pension liability
Total OPEB liability

Total net position - governmental activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ 6,988,929
4,862,426
2,493,303 7,355,729
763,888
59,202
(303)
335,018
(16,598)
(790,850)
(693,238)
(1,915,996)
(118,518) (2,727,752)
$ 11,967,263
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

SPECIAL REVENUE
GENERAL STATE FEDERAL
REVENUES (Note 14)
Licenses/permits $ 150,223 $ 318,215 § —
Taxes:
Natural resource 113,578 108,152 —
Individual income 2,379,459 — —
Corporate income 293,108 12 —
Property 347,201 22,001 —
Fuel — 282,835 —
Other 290,457 218,323 —
Charges for services/fines/forfeits/settlements 35,162 127,950 7,014
Investment earnings (losses) 11,764 (5,583) 227
Securities lending income 28 24 —
Sale of documents/merchandise/property 296 11,648 —
Rentals/leases/royalties 55 1,369 -
Contributions/premiums — 42,419 —
Grants/contracts/donations 15,584 23,812 26
Federal 25,155 7,997 3,874,565
Federal indirect cost recoveries 253 45,895 95,384
Other revenues 1,220 4,869 430
Total revenues 3,663,543 1,209,938 3,977,646
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 383,413 240,601 260,878
Public safety 321,168 122,933 19,981
Transportation 1 265,730 109,367
Health and human services 504,083 244 557 2,698,897
Education 1,140,171 89,464 396,415
Natural resources 38,521 257,134 99,744
Debt service:
Principal retirement 9,098 7,739 4,292
Interest/fiscal charges 1,222 1,255 387
Capital outlay 4,194 75,513 376,634
Securities lending 2 5 —
Total expenditures 2,401,873 1,304,931 3,966,595
Excess of revenue over (under) expenditures 1,261,670 (94,993) 11,051
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Inception of lease/financed purchase 795 3,796 858
Insurance proceeds — 141 —
General capital asset sale proceeds 107 2,912 —
Bond issued — 16,035 —
Energy conservation loans — 1,153 —
Transfers in (Note 12) 130,844 216,249 2,708
Transfers out (Note 12) (226,254) (51,496) (25,764)
Total other financing sources (uses) (94,508) 188,790 (22,198)
Net change in fund balances 1,167,162 93,797 (11,147)
Fund balances - July 1 - as previously reported 856,300 1,979,198 (11,321)
Adjustments to beginning fund balance (Note 2) (25,024) (51) (2,807)
Fund balances - July 1 - as adjusted 831,276 1,979,147 (14,128)
Increase (decrease) in inventories (1,819) (1,015) —
Fund balances - June 30 $ 1,996,619 $ 2,071,929 § (25,275)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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PERMANENT
COAL
SEVERANCE LAND
TAX GRANT NONMAJOR TOTAL
$ — 5 1642 § — 3 470,080
35,221 - 11,251 268,202
_ _ - 2,379,459
- - - 293,120
- - - 369,202
— — - 282,835
- - 13,615 522,395
- - 12,590 182,716
(18,710) (17.411) 1,966 (27,747)
61 52 25 190
- 10,203 - 22,147
- 76,190 — 77,614
- - - 42,419
— 1 - 39,423
— — — 3,907,717
- - - 141,532
— — — 6,519
16,572 70,677 39,447 8,077,823
— — 149 885,041
- - 29 464,111
— - — 375,008
- - 868 3,448,405
- - 15 1,626,065
- 4,263 1,096 400,758
— — 22,132 43,261
- - 4,820 7,684
- - 37,136 493,477
12 10 5 34
2 4073 56,250 7,743,934
16,560 66,404 (26,803) 1,233,869
- - - 5,449
- - - 141
— 7,242 1 10,262
— — — 16,035
- - - 1,153
435 67 168,008 518,311
(29,748) (71,455) (26,690) (431,407)
(29.313) (64,146) 141319 119,944
(12,753) 2,258 14516 7353,833
7,229,060 871,681 741,035 5,665,053
— — (141) (28,023)
7,229,060 871,681 740,894 5,637,930
_ _ - (2,834)
$ 7216307 S 873,939 % 855410 § 6,088,029

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
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RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different due to:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the Statement of
Activities, these costs are allocated as depreciation expense over the useful life of the capital asset.
Capital outlays exceeded depreciation expense in the current year by the following amount (Note 5):

Capital outlay $ 493,477
Depreciation expense and amortization (291,100)

Miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets such as sales (gain/loss) and donations are
reported in the Statement of Activities, but only proceeds from sales are reported in the governmental
funds.

Revenues reported in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the governmental funds.

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as
insurance and central computer services, to individual governmental funds. Internal service funds are
reported separately from governmental funds in the fund financial statements. In the government-
wide statements, internal service funds are included with governmental activities.

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. Some
expenditures reported in the governmental funds either increase or decrease items reported in the
Statement of Net Position.

Change in net position - governmental activities $

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Unemployment Insurance Fund — accounts for employer contributions deposited with
the Secretary of the Treasury of the United States to the credit of the State's unem-
ployment trust fund and federal COVID-19 relief funds. Unemployment benefits are

paid from this fund to eligible recipients.

Municipal Finance Programs Fund — accounts for the programs created under the
Municipal Finance Consolidation Act and the Economic Development Act, both
managed by the Montana Board of Investments. These are primarily revolving loan
programs that provides variable low interest rate loans to eligible Montana State
agencies, universities, and local governments for a variety of projects statutorily

defined. The funding for the revolving loans is from the issuance of put bonds.

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — account for operations that provide goods or services
to the general public in a manner similar to private business enterprises. These funds

are presented in more detail within the Supplementary Information section.

Governmental Activities - Internal Service Funds — account for operations that provide
goods or services to other agencies or programs of state government on a
cost-reimbursement basis. These funds are presented in more detail within the

Supplementary Information section.
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STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash/cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables, net (Note 4)
Interfund loans receivable (Note 12)
Due from other governments
Due from other funds (Note 12)
Due from component units
Inventories
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Advances to other funds (Note 12)
Advances to component units
Long-term investments (Note 3)
Long-term notes/loans receivable (Note 4)
Other long-term assets
Capital assets (Note 5):
Land
Land improvements
Buildings/improvements
Equipment
Infrastructure
Construction work in progress
Intangible/right to use lease, net
Other capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 4)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

GOVERNMENTAL
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES - ENTERPRISE FUNDS ACTIVITIES -
MUNICIPAL INTERNAL
UNEMPLOYMENT FINANCE SERVICE

INSURANCE PROGRAMS ~ NONMAJOR  TOTAL FUNDS

468,480 $ 4931 § 145253 § 618,664 299,189

17,118 7,581 41,521 66,220 13,448

— — 500 500 57

208 — 21 229 197

— 1764 5 1,769 404

— 1,310 — 1,310 —

— — 6,746 6,746 6,487

— — 266 266 586

— 1 352 353 3,267

485,806 15,587 194,664 696,057 323,635

— 8,952 — 8,952 —

— 7,746 — 7,746 —

— — 19,228 19,228 40,641

42,838 42,228 71 85,137 —

— — 1,345 1,345 _

— — 800 800 —

— — 3,830 3,830 95

— — 16,393 16,393 6,069

— — 9,960 9,960 279,295

— — 1,175 1,175 —

— — 3,830 3,830 7,211

— — 5,431 5,431 8,565

— — 3426 3426 —

— — (19,479) (19,479) (189,389)

— — 25,366 25,366 111,846

42,838 58,926 46,010 147,774 152,487

528,644 74,513 240,674 843,831 476,122

— 112 5,060 5172 18,698
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STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

GOVERNMENTAL
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES - ENTERPRISE FUNDS ACTIVITIES -
MUNICIPAL INTERNAL
UNEMPLOYMENT FINANCE SERVICE
INSURANCE PROGRAMS NONMAJOR  TOTAL FUNDS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable (Note 4) 4,817 208 18,416 23,441 18,029
Lottery prizes payable — — 3,456 3,456 —
Interfund loans payable (Note 12) — — 20 20 664
Due to other governments — — 356 356 —
Due to other funds (Note 12) — — 24,127 24,127 1,752
Unearned revenue — — 2,350 2,350 865
Lease/financed purchase payable (Note 10) — — 359 359 2,500
Bonds/notes payable - net (Note 11) — — — — 334
Amounts held in custody for others — — 32 32 403
Securities lending liability (Note 3) — — 266 266 586
Estimated insurance claims (Note 8) — — 11,459 11,459 48,168
Compensated absences payable (Note 11) — 38 1,031 1,069 4,259
Total current liabilities 4,817 246 61,872 66,935 77,560
Noncurrent liabilities:
Lottery prizes payable — — 929 929 —
Advances from other funds (Note 12) — — 2,500 2,500 6,952
Lease/financed purchase payable (Note 10) — — 3,346 3,346 9,424
Bonds/notes payable - net (Note 11) — 68,707 — 68,707 334
Estimated insurance claims (Note 8) — — 3,036 3,036 13,895
Compensated absences payable (Note 11) — 32 1,208 1,240 4,104
Net pension liability (Note 6) — 255 10,335 10,590 45,816
Total OPEB liability (Note 7) — 36 1,994 2,030 7,286
Total noncurrent liabilities — 69,030 23,348 92,378 87,811
Total liabilities 4817 69,276 85,220 159,313 165,371
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note 4) — 124 5,963 6,087 23,080
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets — — 21,284 21,284 91,206
Restricted for:
Unemployment compensation 523,827 — — 523,827 —
Other purposes — 5213 114,965 120,178 —
Unrestricted — 12 18,302 18,314 215,163
Total net position $ 523,827 § 5225 $ 154,551 § 683,603 $ 306,369

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Operating revenues:
Charges for services
Investment earnings (losses)
Securities lending income
Financing income
Contributions/premiums
Grants/contracts/donations
Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Personal services
Contractual services
Supplies/materials
Benefits/claims
Depreciation
Amortization
Utilities/rent
Communications
Travel
Repairs/maintenance
Grants
Lottery prize payments
Interest expense
Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Tax revenues (Note 1)
Grant revenue
Insurance proceeds
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets
Federal indirect cost recoveries
Increase (decrease) value of livestock
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers

Capital contributions

Transfers in (Note 12)

Transfers out (Note 12)
Change in net position

Total net position - July 1 - as previously reported
Adjustments to beginning net position (Note 2)
Total net position - July 1 - as adjusted

Total net position - June 30

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

GOVERNMENTAL
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES - ENTERPRISE FUNDS ACTIVITIES -
MUNICIPAL INTERNAL
UNEMPLOYMENT FINANCE SERVICE
INSURANCE PROGRAMS NONMAJOR TOTAL FUNDS

163 § - 283373 § 283,536 $ 177,313

6,725 18 (132) 6,611 911)

- - 1 1 2

- 1,127 - 1,127 -

139,250 - 117,031 256,281 200,267

9,911 - 50,962 60,873 4,659

- - 7,920 7,920 158,332

156,049 1,145 259,155 616,349 539,662

- 327 16,519 16,846 66,001

- 13 30,866 30,879 46,759

- 2 122,596 122,598 25,384

59,902 - 162,623 222,525 213,803

- - 1,088 1,088 14,130

- - 1,502 1,502 1,208

- 14 890 904 5,999

- 3 1,104 1,107 13,059

- 1 297 298 383

- - 2,259 2,259 39,148

- - - - 147

- - 78,520 78,520 -

- 434 68 502 402

2,248 59 9,604 11,911 6,267

62,150 853 427,936 790,939 732,690

93,899 292 31,219 125410 106,972

- - 40,064 40,064 -

19,705 - - 19,705 -

— — — — 694

- - (375) (375) 279

- - 39 39 8,554

- - 181 181 -

19,705 — 39,009 59,614 9,527

113,604 202 71,128 185,024 116,499

- - 987 987 666

9,091 - 384 9,475 3,734

- - (78,805) (78,805) (36,519)

122,69 292 6,306) 716,681 84,380

400,873 4,933 160,875 566,681 220,870

259 - (18) 241 1,119

401,132 4,933 160,857 566,922 221,989

523,827 § 5225 § 154,551 $ 683,603 § 306,369

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

GOVERNMENTAL
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES - ENTERPRISE FUNDS ACTIVITIES -
MUNICIPAL INTERNAL
UNEMPLOYMENT FINANCE SERVICE
INSURANCE PROGRAMS NONMAJOR TOTAL FUNDS
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipt from sales and service 139,640 $ — 9 399,077 $ 538,717 $ 374,652
Payments to suppliers for goods and services — (95) (151,387) (151,482) (129,227)
Payments to employees — (400) (17,106) (17,506) (67,821)
Grant receipts (expenses) 6,761 — 51,332 58,093 4511
Cash payments for claims (103,745) — (165,812) (269,557) (220,734)
Cash payments for prizes — — (78,589) (78,589) —
Other operating revenues — — 9,291 9,291 166,887
Other operating payments — — (10,810) (10,810) (6,265)
Net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities 42,656 (495) 35,996 78,157 122,003
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Collection of taxes — — 40,064 40,064 —
Transfer to other funds — — (76,237) (76,237) (36,519)
Transfer from other funds 9,091 — 384 9,475 3,734
Proceeds from interfund loans/advances — — 75 75 2,370
Payment of interfund loans and advances — — (431) (431) (2,836)
Proceeds from bonds and notes — 68,707 — 68,707 —
Payment of principal and interest on bonds and notes — (90,890) 1 (90,889) (378)
Grant receipts and Federal indirect cost recoverable 19,705 — 39 19,744 —
Net cash provided by (used for)
noncapital financing activities 28,796 (22,183) (36,105) (29,492) (33,629)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from insurance — — — — 689
Payment of principal and interest - capital related — — (457) (457) (3,758)
Acquisition of capital assets — — (2,280) (2,280) (11,685)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets — — 48 48 91
Net cash provided by (used for) capital and
related financing activities — — (2,689) (2,689) (13,963)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sale (purchase) of investments — — (183) (183) (6,881)
Proceeds (loss) on sales or maturities of investments — 7,523 — 7,523 —
Proceeds (loss) from securities lending transactions/
investments — — 1 1 2
Interest and dividends on investments 6,725 17 1,084 7,826 1,552
Collections of principal and interest on loans — 24,373 — 24,373 —
Cash payment for loans — (20,359) — (20,359) —
Net cash provided by (used for)
investing activities 6,725 11,554 902 19,181 (5,327)
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 78177 (11,124) (1,896) 65,157 69,084
Cash and cash equivalents, July 1 390,303 16,055 147,149 553,507 230,105
Cash and cash equivalents, June 30 $ 468,480 $ 4931 § 145253 $ 618,664 $ 299,189

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
(amounts expressed in thousands)

GOVERNMENTAL
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES - ENTERPRISE FUNDS ACTIVITIES
MUNICIPAL INTERNAL
UNEMPLOYMENT FINANCE SERVICE
INSURANCE PROGRAMS NONMAJOR TOTAL FUNDS
Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ 93,899 $ 292§ 31,219 § 125410 $ 106,972
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided for (used for)
operating activities:
Depreciation — — 1,088 1,088 14,130
Amortization — — 1,502 1,502 1,208
Investment earnings (6,725) (18) 132 (6,611) 911
Securities lending income — — ] ] 2)
Financing income — (1,127) — (1,127) —
Interest expense — 434 68 502 402
Other revenue (3,346) — — (3,346) 8,554
Change in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and
deferred inflows:
Decr (Incr) in accounts receivable 764 — (1,532) (768) (2,394)
Decr (Incr) in due from other funds — — (79) (79) (362)
Decr (Incr) in due from other governments 198 — 365 563 (173)
Decr (Incr) in inventories — — 315 315 (1,507)
Decr (Incr) in other assets — — (16) (16) 74
Incr (Decr) in accounts payable (42,135) (1) (238) (42,374) 2,992
Incr (Decr) in due to other funds — — 7,281 7,281 (15)
Incr (Decr) in lottery prizes payable — — (73) (73) —
Incr (Decr) in unearned revenue — — (207) (207) (206)
Incr (Decr) in amounts held in custody for others — — — — (45)
Incr (Decr) in compensated absences payable — (15) 23 8 (580)
Incr (Decr) in total OPEB liability and related
accounts — 5 (317) (312) (1,220)
Incr (Decr) in estimated claims — — (3,188) (3,188) (7,176)
Incr (Decr) in other payables — (6) 1 (5) 521
Incr (Decr) in net pension liability and related
accounts — (59) (347) (406) (81)
Net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities $ 42655 $ (495) $ 35,996 $ 78,156 $ 122,003
Schedule of noncash transactions:
Capital asset acquisitions from contributed capital ~ $ — 9 — 9 988 $ 988 $ 666
Incr (Decr) in fair value of investments — (1 1,315 1,314 2,734
Total noncash transactions $ ) (1) $ 2,303 § 2,302 $ 3,400

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Pension (and Other Employee Benefit) Trust Funds — account for provided retirement,

disability, death, and lump-sum payments to public employee retirement system

members, in a trustee capacity.

Private-Purpose Trust Funds — account for assets held by the State, in a trustee
capacity and are not required to be reported in the Pension (and Other Employee
Benefit) Trust Funds or Investment Trust Funds, where both the principal and

earnings benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

Investment Trust Funds — account for the receipt of monies held by Montana Board
of Investments for investment in external investment pools, and the distribution of

related investment earnings, for local government agencies, in a trustee capacity.

Custodial Funds — account for assets held by the State as an agent that is not in a
trust or equivalent arrangement, for individuals, private organizations, and other

governments.

Individual funds are presented in more detail, by fund type, within the Supplementary

Information section.
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STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2022

(amounts expressed in thousands)

ASSETS
Cash/cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables (net):
Accounts receivable
Interest
Due from primary government
Due from other PERB plans
Long-term loans/notes receivable
Total receivables
Investments at fair value:
Equity in pooled investments (Note 3)
Other investments (Note 3)
Total investments
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)
Capital Assets:
Buildings/improvements
Equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Right to use lease buildings
Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets
Total capital assets
Other assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Due to other governments
Due to other PERB plans
Unearned revenue
Securities lending liability (Note 3)
Compensated absences payable
Due to primary government - leases (Note 10)
Net pension liability (Note 6)
Total OPEB liability (Note 7)

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Pensions
Postemployment benefits other than pensions
Pool participants
Individuals, organizations, and other governments
Total net position

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

PENSION
(AND OTHER
EMPLOYEE PRIVATE
BENEFIT) PURPOSE
TRUST FUNDS  TRUST FUNDS

INVESTMENT
TRUST
FUNDS

CUSTODIAL
FUNDS

$

169,640 $ 31,998

27,912 —
164 —
37,558 —
848 —

6 —

$ 1,810,291 §

1,816

8,956

1,282

66,488 —

1,816

13,351,627 —
941,838 187,772

12,258

14,293,365 187,772

12,258

138,139 —

315 —
133 —
(222) —
7,660 —
(510) —
2,924 —

187

10,300 —

— 7,007

14,677,932 226,777

1,824,552

1,014 —

1,774 9
848 —

4l —
138,139 —
743 —
7,309 —
1,417 —
667 —

150,968 9

893 —

13,938,182 —
588,903 —

— 226,768

1,822,600

11,070

$

14,527,085 $ 226,768

$ 1,822,600 $

11,070
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
(amounts expressed in thousands)

ADDITIONS
Contributions/premiums:
Employer
Employee
Other contributions
Investment earnings:
Net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments
Interest, dividends, and other
Securities lending income
Total investment earnings
Less investment costs:
Administrative investment expense
Securities lending expense
Net investment earnings
Charges for services
Other additions and miscellaneous
Total additions

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits
Refunds
Distributions
Administrative expenses
Local assistance
Transfers to MUS-RP
Transfers to PERS-DCRP
Total deductions

Change in net position
Net position - July 1 - as previously reported
Adjustments to beginning net position (Note 2)
Net position - July 1 - as adjusted
Net position - June 30

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

PENSION
(AND OTHER
EMPLOYEE PRIVATE INVESTMENT
BENEFIT) PURPOSE TRUST CUSTODIAL
TRUST FUNDS TRUST FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS
295,242 $ — 5 -9 —
274,784 — — —
128,854 23,094 1,267,661 —
(695,977) (25,522) (3,583) 3)
38,617 — 6,045 5
1,453 — 1 —
(655,907) (25,522) 2,463 2
98,765 — — —
318 — — —
(754,990) (25,522) 2,463 2
615 — — —
1,723 8,707 — 42,392
(53,772) 6,279 1,270,124 42,394
1,107,093 — — _
33,342 — — _
— 31,492 1,315,064 40,418
13,200 795 — —
12 — — —
231 — — —
2,385 — — —
1,156,263 32,287 1,315,064 40,418
(1,210,035) (26,008) (44,940) 1,976
15,737,126 275,533 1,867,540 9,094
(6) (22,757) — —
15,737,120 252,776 1,867,540 9,094
14527,085 $ 226,768 $ 1,822,600 $ 11,070

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying financial statements for the State of Montana (State) have been prepared in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), as prescribed by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

A. Reporting Entity

For financial reporting purposes, the State includes funds that comprise the primary government and its
component units. The component units are entities that the State is financially accountable for, or whose
relationship with the State is such that exclusion would cause the State's financial statements to be
misleading or incomplete. GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial
accountability. This criteria includes appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, and
(1) the ability of the State to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to
provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the State.

Discretely Presented Component Units

These component units are entities that are legally separate from the State because they possess
corporate powers, but are financially accountable to the State, or whose relationships with the State are
such that exclusion would cause the State's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The
condensed financial statements, presented in Note 18, include the financial data of the entities listed
below.

Complete financial statements for each of the individual discretely presented component units, which are
separately issued and audited, may be obtained at the following addresses:

Montana Board of Housing Montana State Fund

301 South Park, Room 240 g%5§ror27%t5eet

PO Box 200528 OX

Helenax MT 59620-0528 Helena, MT 59604-4759

Facility Finance Authority Universities and Colleges

2401 Colonial Drive, 3™ Floor Commissioner of Higher Education
PO Box 200506 560 North Park Ave, 4" Floor
Helena, MT 59620-0506 PO Box 203201

Helena, MT 59620-3201

Montana Reinsurance Association

Montana Commissioner of Securities and Insurance
840 Helena Avenue

Helena, MT 59601

Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) — MBOH, which is a legally separate entity, is governed by a quasi-
judicial board appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The State of
Montana has the ability to modify or approve: the budget, the rate or fee changes affecting revenues, and
the ability to appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss those responsible for the day-to-day operations of MBOH.
The board was created in 1975 to facilitate the availability of safe and affordable housing to persons and
families of lower-income. MBOH issues negotiable notes and bonds to fulfill its purposes. The total
amount of notes and bonds outstanding at any time may not exceed $1.5 billion. The discount price of
bonds sold, not the face amount of the bonds, counts against this statutory ceiling. Neither the faith and
credit nor taxing power of the State of Montana may be pledged for the amounts so issued. MBOH is
attached to the Department of Commerce for administrative purposes only. MBOH is audited annually by
the State’s Legislative Audit Division.
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Facility Finance Authority (FFA) — FFA, which is a legally separate entity, is governed by a quasi-judicial
board appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The State of Montana has
the ability to modify or approve: the budget, the rate or fee changes affecting revenues, and the ability to
appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss those responsible for the day-to-day operations of FFA. FFA assists
eligible, nonprofit Montana health care and other community-based service providers to obtain and
maintain access to the broadest range of low-cost capital financing as possible. FFA issues revenue
bonds to fulfill its purposes. Neither the faith and credit or taxing power of the State of Montana may be
pledged for the amounts so issued. FFA is also the administrator for Montana's Commercial Property
Assessed Capital Enhancement Program (C-PACE) which provides Montana businesses with access to
private capital to finance energy and water efficiency and renewable energy improvements. FFA is
attached to the Department of Commerce for administrative purposes only. Individual financial reports are
issued every two years and are audited by the State’s Legislative Audit Division.

Montana State Fund (MSF) — MSF is a nonprofit, independent public corporation established under Title
39, Chapter 71 of the Montana Code Annotated (MCA). MSF provides Montana employers with an option
for workers’ compensation and occupational disease insurance and guarantees available coverage for all
employers in Montana. MSF is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors appointed by the
Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. This Board has full power, authority, and jurisdiction
in the administration of MSF. MSF's results are included in the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report because of the significance of MSF's financial relationship with the State. MSF's board is allocated
to the Department of Administration for administrative purposes only. MSF is reported on a calendar year
basis and is audited annually by the State’s Legislative Audit Division and is also regulated by the
Montana State Auditor's Office as an authorized insurer that is subject to the provisions of Title 33,
Montana Insurance Code.

MSF functions as an autonomous insurance entity supported solely from its own revenues. All assets,
debts, and obligations of MSF are separate and distinct from assets, debts, and obligations of the State of
Montana. If MSF is dissolved by an act of law, the assets held by MSF are subject to the disposition
provided by the Legislature enacting the dissolution with due regard given to obligations incurred and
existing (Section 39-71-2322, MCA).

MSF administers the claims of Montana State Fund and State of Montana (Old Fund), including
determining who a claimant is; what, if any, claims will be paid; and the amount of claims allowed to be
paid. Old Fund covers workers’ compensation claims that were incurred before July 1, 1990, and is
reported within the governmental activities of the primary government, on the government-wide financial
statements.

Universities and Colleges — The Montana Constitution, Article X, Section 9, grants governance authority
over the Montana University System (MUS) to the Board of Regents (Board), with seven members
appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate. All state funds appropriated by the Legislature
to the Board for the support of the MUS are channeled through the Office of the Commissioner of Higher
Education (OCHE). The Constitution charges the Board with hiring a Commissioner of Higher Education
who serves as its executive staff. OCHE is the state-level administrative organization of the MUS.

The Board has responsibility for the following institutions: Montana State University - Bozeman and the
units under it including Montana State University - Billings, Montana State University - Northern, and
Great Falls College Montana State University; and University of Montana - Missoula and the units under it
including Montana Technological University, University of Montana - Western, and Helena College
University of Montana. All units are funded through state appropriations, tuition, federal grants, and
private donations and grants. The universities are audited annually by the State’s Legislative Audit
Division.

Though the following organizations perform functions related to the MUS, they are not considered part of

Montana's reporting entity: (1) Community Colleges which are considered part of local units of
government; (2) the Montana Higher Education Student Assistance Corporation, a private nonprofit
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corporation; and (3) the Student Assistance Foundation of Montana, a private nonprofit corporation.
Entities such as local school districts and local authorities of various kinds are considered part of local
units of government and have not been included. The state and federal support of local public education
systems is reported in the General Fund, the State Special Revenue Fund, and the Federal Special
Revenue Fund.

Montana Reinsurance Association (MRA) — In April 2019, the State of Montana enacted the Montana
Reinsurance Association Act (Act) establishing MRA as a nonprofit, legal entity and creating a reinsurance
program to stabilize the individual health insurance market. The Act authorized the State to apply for a
State Innovation Waiver under Section 1332 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA). The
Act is established under Title 33, Chapter 22, Part 13 of the Montana Code Annotated (MCA).

On June 19, 2019, the State applied for an Innovation Waiver under Section 1332 seeking to implement a
reinsurance program. On August 16, 2019, the United States Departments of Health and Human Services
and Treasury approved Montana's State Innovation Waiver, effective from January 1, 2020, through
December 31, 2024.

The Reinsurance Program is funded through federal pass-through funding (awarded on an annual basis)
and annual association member assessments (1.2% of a member insurer's total premium volume
covering Montana residents from the prior calendar year, as defined in Section 33-22-1313, MCA).

MRA is governed by a five-member board consisting of three directors, one each from the eligible health
insurers with the largest enrollment in the individual market, one insurer director appointed by the
Commissioner of Insurance, and one director appointed by the Governor.

MRA's financial results are included in the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report because of
the significance of MRA's financial relationship with the State. The Commissioner of Insurance is
responsible for overseeing the activities of the MRA and the board. MRA reports on a calendar year basis,
must be audited by an independent certified public accountant annually, and may be audited by the
State's Legislative Audit Division.

Fiduciary Fund Component Units
Complete financial statements for each of the individual fiduciary fund component units may be obtained
at the following addresses:

Teachers’ Retirement System Public Employees’ Retirement Board
100 North Park Avenue, Suite 110 100 North Park Avenue, Suite 200
PO Box 200139 PO Box 200131

Helena, MT 59620-0139 Helena, MT 59620-0131

Teachers’ Retirement System (Pension Trust Fund) — This retirement plan is a legally separate entity with
a board appointed by the Governor. Its purpose is to provide retirement, disability, death, and lump-sum
payments to benefit recipients of Montana's public teaching profession. The plan is funded from employer
and employee contributions, investment earnings, and the State’s General Fund. The benefit payments
and administrative costs of the Teachers’ Retirement System are paid from the same funding sources.
The system is audited annually by the State’s Legislative Audit Division. Further detail related to the
Teachers’ Retirement System is provided in Note 6.

Public Employees’ Retirement Board (Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds) — The Public
Employees’ Retirement Board (PERB) is appointed by the Governor and administers nine retirement
plans for the purpose of providing retirement, disability, death, and lump-sum payments to plan members.
These legally separate plans include the Public Employees’ Retirement Plan — Defined Benefit and
Defined Contribution and the associated education funds; the Judges’; the Highway Patrol Officers’; the
Sheriffs’; the Game Wardens’ and Peace Officers’; the Municipal Police Officers’; the Firefighters’ Unified
Retirement Systems; and the Volunteer Firefighters’ Compensation Act retirement plans. The board also
administers one Other Post-Employment Benefit (PERS-DCRP Disability OPEB) disability plan on behalf
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of Public Employees’ Retirement Plan-Defined Contribution members, and one other employee benefit
plan (457(b) Plan). The board is audited annually by the State’s Legislative Audit Division. Further detail
related to PERB is provided in Note 6 and its OPEB plan information in Section F of Note 7.

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements, Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, report
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the State of Montana and its component units. For the
most part, the impact of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental
activities, which are normally supported by fees, taxes, and intergovernmental revenues, are reported
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.
Likewise, the State of Montana is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for
which the State is financially accountable.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which program revenues offset the direct
expenses of a function. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function.
Certain indirect costs are included in the program expense reported for the individual functions and
activities. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function; and (2) grants and
contributions restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes
and other revenues not meeting the definition of program revenues are reported as general revenues.
The State does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the Statement of Activities.

Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. Major
individual governmental and enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial
statements. Fiduciary fund statements are reported only in the fund financial statements.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are reported
when earned; expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the timing of the related
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and
similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all of the eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider are met.

As a general rule, material interfund revenues and expenses have been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. These have not been eliminated where their elimination would distort the direct
costs and program revenues of the functions involved.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are realizable,
measurable, earned, and available. Revenue is considered realizable when it is probable the amount will
be collected. Revenue is considered measurable and realizable if the precise amount is known because
the transaction is completed, or if there is enough information to provide a reasonable estimate of the net
realizable revenue to be received. Revenue is considered to have been earned when the exchange of
goods or services has taken place. Revenue is considered to be available if it is collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the State
considers revenue available if it is expected to be collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal
period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.
However, debt service expenditures as well as expenditures relating to compensated absences, claims,
and judgments are recorded only when payment is due.
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The major revenue sources considered susceptible to accrual are licenses and permits, natural resource
taxes, individual income taxes, corporate income taxes, property taxes, fuel taxes, and certain federal
revenues (reimbursable grants and U.S. mineral royalties). All other revenue is considered to be
measurable and available when the cash is received.

Fund Financial Statements

The State uses funds to report on its financial position and the results of its operations. A fund is a
separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. Fund accounting is designed to
demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to
certain government functions or activities.

The financial activities of the State of Montana are classified into fund categories as described below:

Governmental Funds
General Fund — To account for all governmental financial resources, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds — To account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources restricted to
expenditure for specified purposes other than major capital projects. (1) The State Special Revenue Fund
accounts for activities funded from state resources used to account for and report the proceeds of specific
revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt
service or capital projects. Several funds are defined in statute as Permanent Funds, however per GASB
Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions (GASB 54), these
funds should be reported within the State Special Revenue Fund. The respective effect on fund balance is
approximately a $94.6 million increase. One specific fund is defined in statute as a Federal Special
Revenue Fund; however, per GASB 54, this fund should be reported within the State Special Revenue
Fund. The respective effect on fund balance is approximately a $27.1 million increase. (2) The Federal
Special Revenue Fund accounts for activities funded from federal sources used in the operation of state
government.

Debt Service Funds — To account for resources accumulated for payment of principal and interest on
general long-term obligation debt.

Capital Projects Funds — To account for resources used for the acquisition or construction of major capital
facilities, other than those financed by proprietary or trust funds.

Permanent Funds — To account for resources that are permanently restricted to the extent that only
earnings, not principal, may be used to support the government’s programs. Several funds are defined in
statute as Permanent Funds, however per GASB 54 these funds should be reported within the State
Special Revenue Fund as noted above.

Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds — To account for operations: (1) financed and operated similar to private business
enterprises, where the intent of the Legislature is to finance or recover costs primarily through user
charges; (2) where the Legislature has decided periodic determination of revenue earned, expenses
incurred, or net income is appropriate; (3) where the activity is financed solely by a pledge of the net
revenues from fees and charges of the activity; or (4) when laws or regulations require that the activities’
costs of providing services, including capital costs, be recovered with fees and charges rather than with
taxes or similar revenues. The primary focus of fee revenues charged by enterprise funds is users outside
of the primary government. One specific fund is defined in statute as an Enterprise Fund, however, per
GASB 34, this fund should be reported within Internal Service Funds. The respective effect on net position
is approximately a $6.0 million increase.

Internal Service Funds — To account for the financing of goods and services provided by one department
or agency to other departments, agencies, or other governmental entities on a cost-reimbursement basis.
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The State of Montana reports two employee group benefits funds. The MUS Group Insurance Fund
primarily charges its fees to Montana State University and the University of Montana. The universities are
reported as discretely presented component units, which the State considers to be external users, and as
such, reports the MUS Group Insurance Fund as an enterprise fund. The Employee Group Benefits Fund
charges its fees to funds of the primary government, and as such, is reported as an internal service fund.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the State in a trustee capacity or as an agent for
individuals, private organizations, or other governments. These assets cannot be used to support the
government’s own programs.

Pension (and Other Employee Benefit) Trust Funds — To account for resources that are required to be
held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of the State’s defined benefit retirement plans, defined
contribution retirement plans, other employee benefit plans, and other post-employment benefit plan. Plan
members receive retirement, disability, death, and lump-sum payments from the fund. Further detail
related to the individual plans is provided in Note 6 and Section F of Note 7.

Private-Purpose Trust Funds —To account for assets held by the State in a trustee capacity, where both
the principal and earnings benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments. For example,
unliquidated security bonds held on deposit from self-insured employers.

Investment Trust Fund — To account for the receipt of monies and the distribution of related investment
earnings to local government agencies by the Montana Board of Investments for investment in the Short
Term Investment Pool (STIP) and Trust Fund Investment Pool (TFIP).

Custodial Funds — To account for transactions related to assets held by the State as an agent for
individuals, private organizations, and other governments. For example, monies belonging to one parent
submitted by another, as is the case with child support payments.

Major Governmental Funds
The General Fund is the State’s primary operating fund, as previously defined.

The State Special Revenue Fund accounts for activities funded from state sources, which are restricted
either legally or administratively for particular costs of an agency, program, or function.

The Federal Special Revenue Fund accounts for activities funded from federal sources used in the
operation of state government.

The Coal Severance Tax Fund, created by Article IX, Section 5 of the Montana State Constitution,
receives 50% of all coal tax collections. The principal in this fund can be expended only upon an
affirmative vote of three-fourths of each house of the Legislature.

The Land Grant Permanent Fund accounts for lands granted to the State for support of public schools
and state institutions.

Major Enterprise Funds

The Unemployment Insurance Fund accounts for employer contributions deposited with the Secretary of
the Treasury of the United States to the credit of the State’s unemployment trust fund. Unemployment
benefits are paid from this fund to eligible recipients. Due to unprecedented claim costs during the
pandemic, additional federal contributions were made in fiscal year 2022 to help keep employer
unemployment insurance contribution rates stable.

The Board of Investments (BOI) Municipal Finance Programs Fund accounts for the programs created
under the Municipal Finance Consolidation Act (MFCA) and the Economic Development Act. Primarily,
this involves a MFCA revolving loan program that provides variable low interest rate loans to eligible
Montana State agencies, universities, and local governments for a variety of projects statutorily defined.
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The funding for the revolving loan program is from the issuance of put bonds. The MFCA program also
provides local government entities access to tax-exempt funds through the issuance of conduit (no-
commitment) debt. Separately issued financial statements may be obtained by contacting the Montana
Board of Investments, 2401 Colonial Drive, 3" Floor, PO Box 200126, Helena, MT 59620-0126.

D. Proprietary Activity Accounting and Financial Reporting

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues generally result from providing services and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary
fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses for enterprise and internal service funds include
the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues
and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating.

E. Cash/Cash Equivalents

For all funds, cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts deposited in the State Treasurer’s pooled
cash account, cash deposits in checking accounts, cash invested in the Short Term Investment Pool
(STIP), cash held by trustees, undeposited cash held by individual state agencies, and investments
categorized as cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less. Further detail related to cash and cash equivalents is provided in Note 3.

F. Receivables

This classification, net of estimated uncollectibles, consists primarily of receivables for goods sold and
services provided; short-term loans and notes; interest and dividends; taxes due within 60 days of fiscal
year-end; and income, withholding, and inheritance taxes that are past due. An allowance for uncollectible
taxes is provided based upon historical analysis. Further detail related to receivables is provided in Note
4,

G. Inventories

Inventories of materials and supplies are reported at cost. The State allows agencies to use any generally
accepted inventory pricing method but specifies the first-in, first-out method generally to be appropriate
for most agencies. Governmental funds use the "purchase method," meaning inventory purchases are
recorded as expenditures. At fiscal year-end, inventory balances are shown as nonspendable, indicating
they do not constitute available expendable resources. Proprietary and fiduciary funds report using the
"consumption method," meaning inventories are expensed as used.

H. Equity in Pooled Investments

To account for equity in pooled investments, BOI uses one internal investment pool and one external
investment pool. The internal investment pool is the Consolidated Asset Pension Pool (CAPP). The
State's nine defined benefit pension trust funds are the only participants in CAPP. The external investment
pool is the Trust Funds Investment Pool (TFIP). State agencies and qualifying local governments can
participate in TFIP. Current State agency TFIP participation is within the enterprise funds, internal service
funds, permanent funds, investment trust funds, Montana University System Units, and specific accounts
established within the State and Federal Special Revenue Funds. The participant investments in the
pools are reported at fair value in the assets within the individual funds. Further detail related to cash and
cash equivalents and investments is provided in Note 3.

l. Investments

For agencies whose investment needs are not met by BOI’s established investment pools, BOI provides
separate investments, which are combined and reported as Separately Managed Accounts (SMA). SMA
participants have direct fixed income, equity, and Montana mortgage and loan investments. SMA
investments are reported at fair value. Certain securities including asset-backed securities, variable-rate
instruments, zero-coupon bonds, preferred stocks, and mortgage-backed securities are purchased for
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portfolio diversification and a competitive rate of return. Other State agencies, on a limited basis by
statute, may administer other long-term investments. Most investments are reported at fair value on the
Statement of Net Position. Further detail related to investments is provided in Note 3.

J. Capital Assets

Capital asset valuation is based on actual historical cost or, in the case of donations, acquisition value.
General government infrastructure capital assets are capitalized and reported on the government-wide
financial statements. Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets is expensed. Infrastructure
assets of proprietary funds are capitalized on the fund financial statements. The State has chosen to use
the depreciation approach for infrastructure assets. The State reports accumulated depreciation on the
Statement of Net Position and depreciation expense on the Statement of Activities for these assets.
Further detail relating to capital assets is provided in Note 5.

Capital assets in proprietary, private-purpose trust, and pension trust funds are accounted for within their
respective funds and are depreciated or amortized on their fund financial statements. Capital assets in
governmental funds are accounted for in the governmental activities of the government-wide financial
statements, as are the associated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is on a straight-line basis,
with estimated useful lives of 25 to 60 years for buildings, 10 to 50 years for infrastructure, 7 to 20 years
for building improvements, and 3 to 10 years for equipment. State agencies are also required to extend or
shorten the useful lives of capital assets to reflect their actual experience or industry standards when
appropriate. Amortization is on a straight-line basis with estimated useful lives of 4 years for software
(internally and externally generated), 30 years for land use rights, and 20 years for other intangibles.

The capitalization limit for buildings and building/land improvements is $25.0 thousand. The capitalization
threshold for infrastructure and internally-generated software is $500.0 thousand. The capitalization
threshold for intangible and right-to-use lease assets is $100.0 thousand. The capitalization limit for other
capital assets is $5.0 thousand. Agencies are allowed to capitalize additions to collections and land
acquisitions at any cost. Purchases below these thresholds are recorded as expenditures/expenses in the
current period.

K. Deferred Outflows, Deferred Inflows, and Unearned Revenue

A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net assets by the government that is applicable to a
future reporting period. A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net assets by the government
that is applicable to a future reporting period. Deferred outflows and inflows of resources may include
financial transactions related to refunding debt, non-exchange transactions, derivative investments, and
OPEB, and pension related components; and are reported on the government-wide, proprietary fund, and
fiduciary fund financial statements. Additionally, deferred inflows of resources may include financial
transactions related to unavailable revenue on the governmental fund financial statements. Unavailable
revenue is reported when assets are recognized, but those assets are not considered available to pay
liabilities of the current period. Unearned revenue, which is neither a deferred outflow of resources nor a
deferred inflow of resources; is recognized as a liability on government-wide, governmental, and
proprietary fund financial statements. Further detail related to deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources is provided in Note 4.

L. Long-term Obligations

Long-term obligations expected to be financed from governmental funds are reported on the government-
wide financial statements. Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due, or
when resources have been accumulated in the debt service fund for payment early in the following year.
For other long-term obligations, only that portion expected to be financed from current expendable
available financial resources is reported as a fund liability of a governmental fund on the fund financial
statements. The remaining portion of such obligations is reported on the government-wide financial
statements. Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from proprietary and fiduciary fund operations
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are accounted for in those funds. Further detail related to leases/financed purchases payable and long-
term liabilities is provided in Note 10 and Note 11, respectively.

M. GASB 87 Leases

According to GASB Statement No. 87 Leases (GASB 87), a lease is a contract that conveys control of the
right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset (the underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a
period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction.

For the State as lessee at the commencement of the lease term, on the government-wide, proprietary
fund, and fiduciary fund financial statements, a lease liability is recorded at the present value of
payments expected during the lease term; and an intangible right-to-use lease asset is recorded at the
sum of the lease liability, certain direct costs, and lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement of the lease term, less any lease incentives received from the lessor at or before the
commencement of the lease term.

The intangible right-to-use lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the asset
useful life or the lease term, unless a purchase option is reasonably certain to be exercise. In such cases,
amortization will be straight-line for the asset's useful life; however, if the underlying asset is
nondepreciable, no amortization will be recorded. On the governmental fund financial statements, no
intangible right-to-use lease asset or lease liability is recorded. Governmental funds instead record capital
outlay expenditures and other financing sources, at the commencement of a lease, at net present value of
the expected payments during the lease term. If the undiscounted value of payments plus certain direct
costs and lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement of the lease term are less
that $100.0 thousand, lease accounting is not required and payments are treated as outflows of
resources.

The State uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases unless the rate is
explicitly stated in the contract or known. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate for the Montana
Board of Investments INTERCAP loan program in effect on July 1 of the fiscal year the lease commences.
Many lease contracts include increases to rent payments related to the consumer price index (CPI) or
similar indices, and the available index increase is included in the present value at the commencement of
the lease or upon remeasurement.

For the State as lessor at the commencement of the lease term, on the government-wide and fund
financial statements, a lease receivable is recorded at the present value of lease payments expected to
be received during the lease term; and a deferred inflow of resources is recorded at the sum of the value
of the lease receivable and any payments received at or before the commencement of the lease term that
relate to future periods. If the undiscounted value of payments that may be received from the lessee are
less than $100.0 thousand, lease accounting is not required and payments are treated as inflows of
resources.

Payments based on future performance are not included in the measurement of the lease liability or lease
receivable but recognized as revenue or expense in the period performed. Residual value guarantees and
exercise options will be included in the measurement if they are reasonably certain to be paid or
exercised. Further detail related to GASB 87 leases is provided in Note 10.

N. Non-GASB 87 Leases

According to GASB 87, the statement does not apply to leases of intangible assets, leases of biological
assets, contracts that meet the definition of a service concession arrangement (GASB Statement No. 60
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements (GASB 60)), leases defined as
short-term leases (under a year), leases that are under the threshold for GASB 87 recognition (see M),
and transfer of ownership contracts. In addition to those exclusions, for leases when the State is a lessor,
GASB 87 lease recognition and measurement provisions do no apply to certain regulated leases or when
the underlying asset of the lease meets the requirements in GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value
Measurement and Application (GASB 72) to be reported as an investment measured at fair value. For the
State as both a lessee and lessor, short-term lease payments and those under the threshold identified in
M. above, are recognized as payments of outflows of resources or receipts of inflows of resources.

64



Montana Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

0. Financed Purchases

A financed purchase is a contract that transfers ownership of an underlying asset to the purchaser by the
end of the contract and does not contain termination options. Provisions that end a contract for the
following reasons are not considered termination options: Payment of all sums due, Default on payments,
or a fiscal funding or cancellation clause that is not reasonably certain of being exercised. If the contract
does contain a termination option, it should be considered a lease and should be accounted for in
accordance with the State’s lease policies. The threshold for recording a financed purchase is the
threshold for recording the asset type associated with a financed purchase. Further detail related to
financed purchases is provided in Note 10.

P. Bond Discounts/Premiums/ilssuance Costs

Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are recognized in the period they are incurred.
Bond issued and bond premiums are reported as other financing sources, and bond discounts are
reported as an other financing use. Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures whether or
not they are withheld from the bond proceeds. Bonds payable are recorded net of any applicable premium
or discount. Further detail related to long-term debt is provided in Note 11.

Q. Compensated Absences

Full-time state employees earn vacation leave ranging from 15 to 24 days per year depending on the
individual's years of service. Teachers employed by the State do not receive vacation leave. Vacation
leave may be accumulated and carried over from one year to the next. The carryover is limited to two
times the maximum number of days earned annually. Sick leave is earned at the rate of 12 days per year
with no limit on accumulation. Each contribution year, an employee may contribute a maximum of 80
hours of sick or annual leave to a nonrefundable sick leave pool. Excess annual leave that is being
forfeited can also be contributed, with no maximum contribution. For fiscal year 2022, 1,406 sick leave
hours, 169 annual leave hours, and 2,742 excess annual leave hours were contributed to the sick leave
pool, and 3,531 hours were withdrawn, leaving a balance of 18,984 hours in the pool. The liability
associated with the pool is not reported in the accompanying financial statements because these hours
are nonrefundable to contributors, except by grants approved through an application process.

Vested or accumulated leave for proprietary and fiduciary funds is recorded as an expense and liability of
those funds in the fund financial statements. For governmental funds, the liability is not expected to be
liquidated with expendable financial resources. The expenditure and liability for the governmental funds is
reported only on the government-wide financial statements. Upon retirement or termination, an employee
is paid for 100% of unused vacation leave and 25% of unused sick leave. Further detail related to
compensated absences is provided in Note 11.

R. Nonexchange Financial Guarantee

According to GASB Statement No. 70 Accounting and Financial Reporting For Nonexchange Financial
Guarantees (GASB 70), governments may extend financial guarantees for the obligations of another
government, a not-for profit entity, or a private entity without directly receiving equal or approximately
equal value in exchange (a nonexchange transaction). As a part of this nonexchange financial guarantee,
a government commits to indemnify the holder of the obligation if the entity that issued the obligation does
not fulfill its payment requirements. Further detail related to nonexchange financial guarantees is provided
in Note 11.

S. Fund Balance/Net Position

Fund Balance

The classifications for fund balance used for governmental funds are reported in two general
classifications, nonspendable and spendable. Nonspendable represents the portion of fund balance that
is legally or contractually required to remain intact or is not in spendable form such as inventories, and, in
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the General Fund, long-term notes and loans receivable. Spendable fund balance is further categorized
as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.

The restricted fund balance category includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes
stipulated by the State Constitution or external parties, such as the federal government, or through
enabling legislation. For the purpose of determining restricted amounts, enabling legislation does not
include commitments resulting from State legislation if these constraints can be removed or changed by a
similar legislative action.

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes determined by a formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority,
the State’s Legislature, through legislation passed into law.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the government for
specific purposes. Still they do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.
Assignments of fund balance are created by the executive branch. In governmental funds other than the
General Fund, assigned fund balance also represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or
committed. The assigned fund balance for the General Fund are encumbrances and assignments for the
portion of current General Fund balance that is projected to be used to fund expenditures and other cash
outflows in excess of the expected revenues and other cash inflows in fiscal years as needed. The
projected spend down for fiscal year 2023 is $75.0 million; thus, a related assignment of fund balance is
reported at 2022 fiscal year-end.

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all spendable
amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other funds, the unassigned classification should be
used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for which amounts
had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

The State generally segregates restricted, committed, and assigned resources by account (sub-fund)
within the governmental funds other than the General Fund. When resources meeting more than one of
these spendable classifications are commingled in an account on the State’s accounting system, the
assumed order of spending is restricted first, committed second, and finally assigned. State statute
requires non-General Fund money be spent first whenever possible so any related available unassigned
balance would be spent last.

General Fund - Fund Balance

As of June 30, 2022, the State maintains a Budget Stabilization Reserve Fund as required by statute. For
financial reporting purposes, this fund is combined with the General Fund as it does not meet the GASB
54 requirements to be a special revenue fund as the Legislature prescribed. The June 30, 2022,
committed fund balance in the General Fund of $118.9 million, represents the Budget Stabilization
Reserve Fund balance.

Additionally, statute provides a minimum fund balance amount as follows: Section 17-7-140, MCA,
defines minimum ending fund balance and specifies the procedures that must be followed to make
expenditure reductions or allow transfers from the Budget Stabilization Reserve Fund if a projected
ending fund balance drops below minimum statutory requirements.

If the Budget Director determines that a deficit exists, statute requires reductions that must be made to
assure that the projected ending fund balance complies with the minimum ending fund balance of General
Fund appropriations for the biennium. Under circumstances when a deficit of this level is projected during
a biennium, the Governor may direct reductions from any General Fund expenditure not exempted by
Section 17-7-140, MCA, including House Bill (HB) 2 (the State’s main appropriation bill), any other
appropriation bills, statutory appropriations, or language appropriations. Reductions may not exceed 10%
of General Fund appropriations for any single “program,” as defined in HB 2. If a program has more than
one appropriation, the reduction for one or more of the appropriations may exceed 10% as long as the
reduction for the program as a whole does not exceed 10%.
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The Legislative and Judicial branches, the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind, principal and interest
on State debt, salaries of elected officials, and public school BASE funding are exempt, statutorily, from
reductions. These exemptions shield approximately one-third of General Fund appropriations from
reduction. Of the remaining expenditures, the Governor may not direct executive agencies headed by
elected officials or the Board of Regents to reduce their expenditures by more than the average reduction
percentage imposed upon all other executive branch agencies.

Net Position

In funds other than governmental, net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred
outflows of resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources. The net investment in the capital
assets portion of net position consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the
outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either
through constitutional provisions, enabling legislation or through external restrictions imposed by
creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments. The government-wide Statement of Net
Position reported restricted net position of $4.2 billion.

Net position associated with the Unemployment Insurance Fund is classified as restricted. The majority of
the restricted net position for other purposes business-type activities amounting to $120.2 million is made
up of $86.0 million from MUS Group Insurance Fund and $13.1 million from MUS Workers Compensation
Fund. Certain investments of the Municipal Finance Programs Fund are also classified as restricted net
position for other purposes as business-type activities and on the Statement of Fund Net Position for
proprietary funds because applicable bond indenture agreements limit their use.

T. Property and Income Taxes

Real property taxes are normally levied in October and are usually payable in two installments on
November 30 and May 31. These taxes attach as an enforceable lien immediately if not paid when due.

Personal property tax levies are set each August, and notices are normally mailed the following March or
April. Half of mobile home taxes are due in 30 days and the remaining half on September 30. Taxes on all
other types of personal property are to be paid in full 30 days after receipt of the notice. Property tax
payments are recognized as deferred inflows of resources if received prior to levy or availability.

Personal property taxes attach as an enforceable lien immediately if not paid when due. Each of

Montana's 56 counties collect property taxes. The counties then remit the State's portion to the State
Treasury. The majority of these taxes help fund public school systems and higher education.
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U. Other Taxes

On the Statement of Activities, the revenue category “Other Taxes” consists of the following taxes (in
thousands):

State Special Govgtr?ni:antal Business-Type
General Fund Revenue Funds Funds Total
Accommodations $ 45139 §$ 63,214 § 11,889 $ KY 120,276
Agriculture — 8,102 — — 8,102
Cannabis tax (medical/recreational)” — 24,706 — — 24,706
Car rental 6,934 2,311 — — 9,245
Cigarette/tobacco 33,593 42,139 1,614 — 77,346
Contractors gross receipts 2,837 — — — 2,837
Energy tax 7,315 — — — 7,315
Fire protection — 4,281 — — 4,281
Insurance premium 97,898 53,600 — — 151,498
Light vehicle registration — 6,524 — — 6,524
Liquor tax 5,774 2,352 — 40,030 48,156
Livestock — 5,048 — — 5,048
Other taxes 153 1,199 — — 1,352
Public service commission — 4,223 — — 4,223
Railroad car companies 3,628 — — — 3,628
Telephone license 8,778 — — — 8,778
Video gaming 77,881 6 — — 77,887
Total other taxes $ 289,930 $ 217,705 $ 13,503 $ 40,064 $ 561,202

™ Fiscal year 2022 was the first year for recreational cannabis sales. In fiscal year 2021 medical cannabis was included with cigarette/tobacco etc.
V. Tax Abatement

In the Montana Board of Investment’'s (BOIl) Commercial Loan Program, within the Separately Managed
Account, the infrastructure loan program is funded by an $80.0 million allocation. Eligible local
governments request a loan for constructing or purchasing infrastructure to be used by a basic sector
business. The basic sector business will pay a user fee to the local government that is pledged to BOI for
the loan repayment. BOI reviews each loan, and only upon verification that the entities meet the loan
requirements is the loan approved by BOI. The local government entity must pass a resolution authorizing
the acceptance of the commitment agreement. BOI indemnifies the local government regarding
repayment of the loan.

To be eligible for the program, the basic sector business must create at least 15 full-time basic sector
jobs. The maximum loan size is $16.7 thousand multiplied by the number of full-time jobs created with a
minimum loan size of $250.0 thousand. The maximum loan term is 25 years. There is also up to a 2.5%
interest rate reduction for job creation. The reduction will be reflected in the user fee rate charged to the
basic sector business upon BOI review and approval. The basic sector business must create the required
jobs within four years of the agreement. If the basic sector business does not create the required jobs
within the four-year period, then the basic sector business must pay down the loan balance of the local
government entity until the loan balance matches the eligible amount per the jobs created. BOI may
increase the interest rate commensurate with the number of jobs eliminated if the borrower eliminates
qualifying jobs. The basic sector business must annually provide payroll documentation to BOI.

Pursuant to statute, a business that is created or expanded as the result of an Infrastructure Loan is

entitled to a credit against either their State individual income taxes or corporate income taxes for the
portion of the fees attributable to the use of the infrastructure. The total amount of tax credit claimed may
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not exceed the amount of the loan. The credit may be carried forward for seven years or carried back for
three years.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, basic sector business entities made total user fee payments
of $4.0 million, representing $3.5 million of principal and $0.5 million in interest. During the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2022, a total of $5.1 million was claimed as a credit against the State individual and
corporation tax liability. The following table details the fiscal year 2022 credit claimed by tax type and the
tax year it was applied against (in thousands):

Infrastructure Credit Claimed

Tax Year Tax Year
2021 2020 Total
Corporate income tax $ — 3 399 § 399
Individual income tax 66 4,654 4,720
Total amount claimed $ 66 $ 5053 § 5119

W. Irrevocable Split Interest Agreements

Irrevocable split-interest agreements are used by donors to provide resources to two or more
beneficiaries, including governments. These agreements can be created through trusts or other legally
enforceable agreements with characteristics that are equivalent to irrevocable split-interest agreements.
The University of Montana campuses have three irrevocable split interest agreements during the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2022. Further detail related to these agreements is provided in Note 3.
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NOTE 2. OTHER ACCOUNTING CHANGES
A. New Accounting Guidance Implemented

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the State of Montana implemented the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 87, Leases (GASB 87). This statement establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this
Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset,
and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the State of Montana implemented the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period (GASB 89). GASB
89. This Statement requires that interest costs incurred before the end of a construction period be
recognized as an expense or an expenditure in the period in which the cost is incurred for financial
statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus or the current financial
measurement focus, respectively.

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the State of Montana early implemented provisions of GASB
Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022 (GASB 99) related to GASB 87. This statement addresses practice
issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. The
practice issues addressed by this statement include classification and reporting of financial guarantees
and derivative instruments, extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for the distribution of benefits as
part of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), disclosures of hon-monetary transactions,
pledges of future revenues when resources are not received by the pledging government, clarification of
provisions in GASB Statements No. 34 and 87, and terminology updates related to GASB Statements No.
53 and 63. The early implementation of GASB 99 in conjunction with GASB 87 is for purposes related to
the determination of the lease term, classification of a lease as a short-term lease, recognition and
measurement of a lease liability and a lease asset, and identification of lease incentives.

B. Other Accounting Changes

In April 2019, the State of Montana enacted the Montana Reinsurance Association Act (Act) establishing
Montana Reinsurance Association (MRA) as a nonprofit, legal entity. MRA is classified as a discretely
presented component unit of the State of Montana. MRA reports on a calendar year basis. MRA's
financial results are included in the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report beginning fiscal year
2022 because of the significance of MRA's financial relationship with the State. As a result of the change
in reporting entity, a prior period adjustment of $32.9 million was made to restate the beginning net
position of MRA on both the Statement of Activities and the Condensed Statement of Activities. Further
detail related to MRA and the financial impact of this change are provided in Note 1 and Note 18.

C. Adjustments to Beginning Net Position

Prior to the implementation of GASB 87, capital leases were recorded with as liabilities and tangible
capital assets. For the implementation of GASB 87 these balances were reversed as adjustments to
beginning net position and the lease agreements were then recorded in accordance with the State’s
GASB 87 policies. The cumulative effect of these adjustments for the Statement of Activities was an
increase to beginning net position of $542.1 thousand for Governmental Activities and $10.6 thousand for
Business-Type Activities. The cumulative effect of these adjustments for the Proprietary Funds Statement
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position was an increase to beginning net position of
$10.6 thousand for Enterprise Funds and $65.8 thousand for Internal Service Funds. Other adjustments
for either Governmental Activities or Business-Type Activities relating to corrections of errors from prior
periods.
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NOTE 3. CASH/CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

This note details the following asset classifications (in thousands):

Cash/cash equivalents $ 8,394,793
Equity in pooled investments $ 16,089,695
Investments $ 3,586,624

Carrying amounts for the bank balance for cash deposits and fair values for the State's cash equivalents
and investments are presented in Tables 1 through 4.

A. General

Outside of statutory requirements, the State does not maintain a statewide risk policy for cash/cash
equivalents or investments held outside of the Montana Board of Investments (BOI). The investment risk
policy for State cash/cash equivalents and investments managed by BOI, have been detailed below.

BOI was created by the Legislature to manage the Unified Investment Program (UIP) established by the
State Constitution. The UIP is comprised of involuntary participating state funds, including pensions,
trusts, insurance, operating funds, and by statute voluntarily participating local government funds. BOI
manages the UIP pursuant to the “Prudent Expert Principle” mandated by State law, which requires an
investment manager to:

1. discharge the duties with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence, under the circumstances then
prevailing, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity with the same resources and familiar
with like matters exercises in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character with like aims;

2. diversify the holdings of each fund within the UIP to minimize the risk of loss and to maximize the
rate of return unless, under the circumstances, it is clearly prudent not to do so; and

3. discharge the duties solely in the interest of and for the benefit of the funds forming the UIP.

BOI is not registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment company.
BOI’s investment program is governed by Investment Policy Statements (IPS) approved by BOI.

State agencies and local government entities may participate in one or more pools. By investing in pools,
participants are provided broad diversification. State agencies may also have direct fixed income, equity,
or loan investments. These investments are combined and reported as Separately Managed Accounts
(SMA). Currently, only the nine retirement funds that participate in the Consolidated Asset Pension Pool
(CAPP), the Defined Contribution Disability Plan, and the Montana State Fund (MSF) may invest in public
corporate capital stock. Neither State law nor the State Constitution place restrictions on retirement fund
investments. BOI approves a separate IPS for each pool and SMA participant, which provides BOI staff
with a broad strategic framework under which the investments are managed. The IPS also reflects BOI
approved asset allocation ranges.

By statute, local government entities can voluntarily invest in the Short Term Investment Pool (STIP). By
statute, with a qualifying event, local government entities may also voluntarily invest in the Trust Funds
Investment Pool (TFIP).

Separately issued investment pool financial statements may be obtained by contacting:

Montana Board of Investments
2401 Colonial Drive, 3™ Floor
PO Box 200126

Helena, MT 59620-0126

BOI’s separately issued UIP financial statements include the activity for MSF within SMA on a June 30,

2022, basis. MSF, a discretely presented component of the State, by statute, prepares separately issued
financial statements on a calendar year-end basis. Due to the difference in reporting periods, there will be
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a variance between the note disclosures and the financial statements for cash/cash equivalents and
investments.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents consist of funds deposited by individual funds in the State Treasurer’s
pooled cash account, cash deposits in checking accounts, cash invested in STIP, cash held by trustees,
undeposited cash held by individual state agencies, and investments categorized as cash equivalents.

Cash deposited with the State Treasurer’s pooled cash account is invested by BOI in short-term securities
and other investments. Because these funds are immediately available to the individual funds, their
investment in the pooled cash account is reported as a cash equivalent. BOI also manages STIP, which
provides individual State agencies and local governments an opportunity to invest excess cash in a pool
that is managed to preserve principal while providing 24-hour liquidity. Because these pooled funds are
invested in short-term, highly liquid investments, the individual fund investments in the STIP are reported
as a cash equivalent.

(b) Investment securities are reported by investment portfolio and type in Table 2 — Cash Equivalents,
Table 3 — Equity in Pooled Investments, and Table 4 — Investments. Unrealized gains and losses are
included as a component of investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are computed based on
changes in the fair value of investments held from the beginning of the year, but unsold at the fiscal year-
end. The net change in fair value of investments also consists of the realized gains or losses. Interest
income is recognized when earned. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Investments reported at fair value are on a trade date basis. Quoted market prices, when available, have
been used to value investments. The fair values for securities that have no quoted market price represent
estimated fair value. Alternative investment securities are valued using the most recent estimates of fair
value from the investment managers. Fair value measurements are reviewed monthly, and third-party
valuations are reviewed for reasonableness and compliance with approved price source authorization
policy. BOI categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — Prices are determined using inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs can include quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active or inactive markets, or market-corroborated inputs.

Level 3 — Prices are determined using unobservable inputs, which generally results in BOI using the best
information available and may include BOI’s own data.

(c) Security Lending - BOI is authorized by law to lend its securities and has contracted with the
custodial bank to lend BOI’s securities to broker-dealers and other entities with a simultaneous agreement
to return the collateral for the same securities in the future. On any day, including June 30th, the markets
may move in a positive or negative direction resulting in under or over collateralization. The custodial
bank compensates for market movement by recalculating on the following business day to meet the
collateralization requirements. BOI and the custodial bank split the earnings 85% and 15%, respectively,
on securities lending activities. BOI retains all rights and risks of ownership during the loan period. The
custodial bank indemnifies BOI’s credit risk exposure to the borrowers. The custodial bank does not have
the ability to sell collateral securities unless the borrower defaults.

During fiscal year 2022, the custodial bank loaned BOI's public securities and received as collateral the
following instruments:

+ Cash (U.S. and foreign currency)

» Securities issued or guaranteed by the United States government or its agencies or
instrumentalities

+ Canadian provincial debt

» All other sovereign debt

»  Convertible bonds
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+ U.S. and non-U.S. equities (which shall include (i) equity securities in the form of exchange-
traded funds (“ETFs”) and, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include, but not be limited to, ETFs of
the custodial bank or other custodial bank affiliates and (ii) American Depositary Receipts and
Global Depositary Receipts)

+ Covered bonds

* Preferred securities

*  Certificates of Deposit

* Money market instruments

+ Asset-backed securities

* Asset-backed commercial paper

+  Commercial paper

» Collateralized mortgage obligations

* Mortgage-backed securities

* Supranationals

* lrrevocable bank letters of credit issued by a person other than the borrower or an affiliate of the
borrower may be accepted as collateral, if the custodial bank has determined that it is appropriate
to accept such letters of credit as collateral under the securities lending programs it administers

* Assets permissible under Rule 15¢c3-3 under the Exchange Act of 1934; and

»  Such other collateral as the parties may agree to in writing from time to time

BOI has an established schedule with the custodial bank that identifies the minimum credit rating and
margin requirements for each instrument:

Minimum Margin
Collateral Type Credit Rating Requirement
US Treasuries, including Treasury Inflation Priced Securities 102%
US Federal Agency Debt, including agency mortgage-backed securities 102%
Municipal Bonds A-IA3 105%
Canadian Provincial and Australian Semi-Regional Debt A-IA3 105%
Asset-Backed Securities AA-/Aa3 110%-115%
Collateralized Mortgage-Backed Securities AA-/Aa3 110%-115%
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities AA-/Aa3 110%-115%
Supranational Debt AAA/Aaa 102%
Sovereign Debt AA-/Aa3 102%
Sovereign Debt A-/A3 105%
Commercial Paper, Certificates of Deposit, Banker's Acceptances and Time Deposits A1/P1 105%
Corporate Debt AA-/Aa3 102%-115%
Corporate Debt BBB-/Baa3  102%-115%
Convertible Bonds (convertible on call against loans of underlying stock, only) Matched/Hedged ~ No Floor 105%
Convertible Bonds (U.S. issuers only) Outright No Floor 110%-115%
Equities (generally traded on well-established exchanges) 108%-110%

BOI imposed no restrictions on the amount of securities available to lend during fiscal year 2022.
However, STIP assets are currently not available for securities lending. There were no failures by any
borrowers to return loaned securities or pay distributions thereon during the period that resulted in a
declaration and notice of default of the borrower. There were no losses during fiscal year 2022 resulting
from a borrower default. As of June 30, 2022, no securities were recalled and not yet returned.

The cash collateral received for each loan was invested, together with the cash collateral of other
qualified plan lenders, in an investment fund, the Navigator Securities Lending Government Money
Market (Navigator) portfolio.

BOI and the borrowers maintain the right to terminate all securities lending transactions on notice.
Because the securities lending transactions were terminable at will, their duration did not generally match
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the duration of the investments made with the cash collateral received from the borrower. The Navigator
portfolio had an average duration of 1 day and the average weighted final maturity of 31 days.

(d) Investment Pools and Separately Managed Accounts (SMA) are described in the following
paragraphs.

Consolidated Asset Pension Pool (CAPP)

The CAPP IPS contains prescribed asset allocation ranges among the allowable asset classes and is
subject to change as BOI adopts modifications. BOI annually affirms or revises the asset allocation
ranges for the retirement plans. The CAPP IPS also contains investment objectives and guidelines for
each underlying asset class, with a purpose of providing diversified exposure within the asset class in a
prudent and cost-effective manner.

Due to a longer-term focus, CAPP's asset classes differ from other classes that are allowable for other
programs. CAPP's underlying asset classes are as follows:

*  Domestic Equities

* International Equities

e Private Investments

* Real Assets

* Real Estate

* Core Fixed Income

*  Non-Core Fixed Income
* Cash

The CAPP IPS is the only IPS that allows for investments that can be held in non-U.S. securities in a
foreign currency. Per the CAPP IPS, the Core Fixed Income Asset Class and Non-Core Fixed Income
Asset Class sections have maximum restrictions that can be held. Currency exposures may be hedged, in
a defensive manner, at the discretion of the active managers to preserve the U.S. dollar value of
investments made.

Trust Funds Investment Pool (TFIP)

The TFIP IPS provides for a 10% portfolio limit for non-core fixed income securities. TFIP invests primarily
in investment grade, U.S. dollar denominated fixed income securities. The portfolio has high yield and
core real estate exposure.

Short Term Investment Pool (STIP)

The STIP IPS limits the concentration of credit risk exposure by limiting portfolio investment types to 3.0%
in any issuer except for U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agency securities as well as any repurchase agreements
with a financial institution.

STIP invests primarily in short-term, high quality, fixed income securities with a maximum maturity of 397
days or less. Variable securities shall have a maximum maturity of 2 years. STIP shall maintain a dollar-
weighted average portfolio maturity of 120 days or less. STIP is managed to preserve principal while
providing 24-hour liquidity for state agency and local government participants.

BOI maintains a reserve account that may be used to offset losses within the STIP portfolio. The STIP
reserve for the year ending June 30, 2022, is detailed as follows:
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STIP Reserve Activity
(in thousands)

Beginning STIP Reserve $ 54,212
Additions
Investment Earnings:

Net increase (decrease) on fair value of investments 17

Interest income 18

Transfer of daily STIP income 2,340

Recoveries from write-offs 407
Total investment earnings 2,882
Total STIP Reserve activity 2,882
Ending STIP Reserve $ 57,094

Separately Managed Accounts (SMA)

SMA invests primarily in investment grade, U.S. dollar denominated, fixed income securities and custodial
bank interest bearing demand deposit account. However, one participant portfolio has exposure to core
real estate and high yield fixed income. The SMA portfolio also includes Veteran’s Home Loan Mortgages
(VHLM) and loans funded by the Coal Severance Tax Trust Fund, as authorized by statute.

(e) Investment Risk Disclosures are described in the following paragraphs, with more detail provided in
later sections.

Custodial Credit Risk (Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments Held at Custodial Bank)

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, BOI will
not be able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party. Per policy, BOI's custodial bank must be rated at a minimum at the 6th highest investment
grade rating by at least two Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations (NRSROs) on an
annual basis.

As of June 30, 2022, all the public securities as well as securities held by the separate public equity
account managers were registered in the nominee name for BOI and held in the possession of BOI's
custodial bank. The equity index funds, securities held at the State’s depository bank, real estate,
mortgage, and loan investments were purchased and recorded in BOI's name. Commingled fund
investments are registered in the name of BOI. Therefore, BOI is not subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable to the magnitude of any single investment per
issuer name. Investments explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are excluded from the
concentration of credit risk requirement. Concentration of credit risk is addressed within all IPS as set by
BOL.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.
Except for U.S. Government securities, the pools and SMA fixed income instruments have credit risk as
measured by NRSRO ratings. Credit risk is contemplated for each individual portfolio in the IPS. Credit
risk is managed by constraining portfolio purchases around investment grade NRSRO ratings as
appropriate. The U.S. Government guarantees its securities directly or indirectly. Obligations of the U.S.
Government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government are not considered to have
credit risk and do not require disclosure of credit risk.

As of June 30, 2022, the CAPP's cash equivalents position held at its custodial bank, $136.0 million was
held in unrated money market funds.

As a matter of STIP investment policy, BOI can only purchase securities from a pre-approved “Approved
Issuer” list. By STIP policy, permitted money market investments include only SEC registered 2a-7
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Institutional Money Market Funds that are considered “U.S. Treasury” or “U.S. Government” money
market mutual funds according to the SEC regulations or short-term investment vehicle available through
the custodial bank. As of June 30, 2022, all the STIP money market investments were in U.S.
Governmental money markets and $153.0 million was held on deposit in a short-term investment vehicle
available through the custodial bank.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. BOI uses effective duration as a measure of interest rate risk for all fixed income portfolios.
CAPP, TFIP, and SMA investments at fair value are categorized to disclose credit and interest rate risk for
fixed income securities. Credit risk is disclosed using the weighted credit quality rating by investment type.
Interest rate risk is disclosed using the weighted effective duration. NRSRO provides the credit ratings.
According to the STIP investment policy, “The STIP portfolio will minimize interest rate risk by:

1. structuring the investment portfolio so securities mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing
operations thereby normally avoiding the need to sell securities on the open market prior to
maturity;

2. maintaining a dollar-weighted average portfolio maturity (WAM) of 120 days or less (for this
purpose, the date to the next coupon reset date will be used for all floating or variable rate
securities); and

3. STIP will maintain a reserve account.”

CAPP, TFIP, STIP, and SMA may hold fixed and variable rate securities. Interest payments on variable
securities are based on an underlying reference rate, for example, Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(SOFR).

STIP investments at fair value are categorized to disclose credit risk and weighted average maturity
(WAM) as of June 30, 2022. Credit risk reflects the weighted security quality rating by investment type as
of the June 30 report date. Although the STIP investments have been rated by investment security type,
STIP, as an external investment pool, has not been rated. STIP has $68.7 million of investments reported
at cost that are not rated. STIP interest rate risk is determined using the WAM method. The WAM
measure expresses investment time horizons (the time when investments are due or reset and payable in
days, months, or years) weighted to reflect the dollar size of the individual investments within an
investment type. Inclusive of cash and cash equivalents, the WAM averages 68 days for the portfolio.
Based on their short weighted average maturity and the relative immaterial difference from their cost to
fair value as of June 30, 2022, BOI determined the cash equivalents have little discernible interest rate
risk.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. BOI's foreign currency exposure by denomination and investment type are reported, in U.S.
dollars, at fair value and is limited to CAPP.

Other Policy Considerations

For other risk, BOI approves both the IPS and benchmark used for each portfolio. Per the CAPP IPS, the
Core Fixed average duration will be maintained in a range within 20% of the benchmark duration. The
Core Fixed Income PAC and Non-Core Fixed Income PAC average duration will be maintained in a range
within 25% of the index duration. Per the TFIP IPS, the average duration will be maintained in a range
within 20% of the benchmark duration. Interest rate risk for SMA is contemplated in each individual IPS
and is managed by limiting the maturity of individual securities and/or matching liabilities to maturities per
estimated cash flows.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

Within CAPP, the UIP invests in, currency forward contracts, credit default swaps, interest rate swaps,
index futures (long and short duration), rights and warrants which are classified as investment derivative
instruments. The investment derivative instruments decreased in fair value for the fiscal year ended June
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30, 2022, by $1.5 million. The derivative instruments had a fair value of $(143.0) thousand as of June 30,

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

2022. The notional amount of the contracts was $70.4 million.

Investment Derivative Instruments as of June 30, 2022

(in thousands)

Changes in
Fair Value
Included in
Investment Notional
Security Investment Type Classification ~ Income Fair Value Amount
Credit default swaps bought Investment  § 430 $ 132§ 4,405
Credit default swaps written Investment (1,190) (454) 23,696
Currency Forward Contracts Investment 412 92 39,162
Index Futures Short Investment 266 — (6,500)
Index Futures Long Investment (1,408) — 4
Pay fixed interest rate swaps Investment 21 21 1,620
Receive fixed interest rate swaps Investment 7 2 7,947
Rights Investment 1 42 4
Warrants Investment (34) 22 19
Totals $ (1,495) $ (143) $ 70,357

Counterparty Credit Risk - Derivative Instruments

Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not fulfill its obligations. The maximum amount
of loss to BOI in case of default of all counterparties as of June 30, 2022 was $742.0 thousand. The

following table reflects BOI's applicable counterparty credit ratings and risk concentrations.

Risk Concentrations - Credit Default Swaps as of June 30, 2022

Percentage of Moody's
Counterparty Name Net Exposure S&P Rating Fitch Rating Rating
HSBC Bank USA 58% A+ AA- Aa3
UBS ICE 20% A+ AA- Aa3
Barclays Bank PLC Wholesale 10% A A+ A1
BNP Paribas SA % A+ A+ Aa3
UBS LCH 4% A+ AA- Aa3
Citibank N.A. 1% A+ A+ Aa3
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B. Cash/Cash Equivalents

(1) Cash Deposits — The State requires collateralization based on the average daily bank balance in the
depository bank holding the main state bank account. For other depository banks, state statutes require
collateralization at 50.0% of the bank balance. The cash deposits amount includes both primary
government and component unit deposits.

Table 1 - Cash Deposit Amounts
(in thousands)

Carrying

Amount

Cash held by State/State's agent $ 49,777
Uninsured and uncollateralized cash 4,638
Undeposited cash 636
Cash in U.S. Treasury 473,707
Cash in MSU component units 10,404
Cash in UM component units 15,988
Less: outstanding warrants (76,001)
$§ 479,149

(2) Cash Equivalents — consists of cash in the State Treasury invested by individual funds in the Short-
term Investment Pool (STIP), the State Treasurer’s pooled cash account, and in identifiable securities and
investments considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, generally, are short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are measured at cost. Cash equivalents
may be under the control of BOI or other agencies, as allowed by law.

Table 2 - Cash Equivalents
(in thousands)

Fair

Value
Treasuries (" $ 520,928
Asset backed commercial paper @ 69,929
Corporate commercial paper 838,725
Corporate notes 253,992
Certificates of deposit @ 752,070
Agency or government related 1,242,500
Unrated INTERCAP bonds @ 68,707
Money market fund unrated 231,599
STIP cash equivalents 3,883,530
Treasurer's cash pool cash equivalents © 169,000
Less: STIP Adjustments (115,336)
Total cash equivalents § 7,915,644

") A portion is also included in the Investments Measured at Fair Value and NAV table.

)

2 Also included in the Investments Measured at Fair Value and NAV table.
)

)

% Investments are measured at cost.

(
(
(
@ Includes adjustments for STIP Reserve, STIP included in pooled investments, and holding classification differences.

4’

As of June 30, 2022, local governments had invested $1.8 billion, and component units of the State of Montana had invested $360.9
million in STIP.
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STIP Cash Equivalent Credit Quality Ratings as of
June 30, 2022
(in thousands)

Total Cash
Equivalents Credit Quality Rating
Agency or government related $ 196,111 A-1+
Asset backed commercial paper 2,750,228 A-1+
Corporate commercial paper 784,191 A-1+
Interest Bearing Demand Deposit Account (IBDDA) 153,000 NR
Total cash equivalents $ 3,883,530

STIP
Credit Quality Rating and Weighted Average of Maturity as of

June 30, 2022
(in thousands)

Total Fixed
Income Credit
Investments  Quality
Security Investment Type atFairValue  Rating = WAM (Days)
Treasuries $ 520,928 A1 17
Asset backed commercial paper 69,929 A-1 2
Agency or government related 1,242,500 A1 40
Corporate:
Commercial paper 838,725 A-1 27
Notes 253,992 A-1 8
Certificates of deposit 752,070 A-1 24
Total STIP fixed income investments at fair value $ 3,678,144
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C. Equity in Pooled Investments

These securities consist of investments held by BOI in pooled investment funds. The Consolidated Asset
Pension Pool (CAPP) and Trust Funds Investment Pool (TFIP) were created to allow qualifying funds to
participate in diversified investment pools. Purchases are subject to the statutorily mandated “Prudent
Expert Principle” (see Table 3 — Equity in Pooled Investments).

Table 3 - Equity in Pooled Investments
(in thousands)

Fair Value
CAPP:
Consolidated asset pension pool $ 13,346,867
TFIP:
Trust funds investment pool 2,826,431
Treasurer's Cash Pool Investment in TFIP (90,280)
Total pooled investments 16,083,018
Pool adjustments (net) 6,677
Total equity in pooled investments $ 16,089,695

™ Includes cash/cash equivalents and investments.
@TFIP becomes permitted investments for the State Treasurer's Fund.

As of June 30, 2022, the fair value of the underlying securities on loan was $655.7 million. Collateral provided for the securities on
loan totaled $688.5 million, consisting of $181.4 million in cash and $507.2 million in securities.

As of June 30, 2022, local governments invested $12.3 million in TFIP.

State of Montana investments are categorized below to disclose credit and interest rate risk as of June
30, 2022, as required for applicable pools.

Credit Quality Rating and Effective Duration as of June 30, 2022
Fair Value (in thousands)

Total Fixed
Income Effective
Investments  Credit Quality Duration
Security Investment Type CAPP TFIP SMA at Fair Value Ratings Range (Years)
Treasuries $ 645358 § 408628 § 317,079 $§ 1,371,065 AAA 4.31-11.29
Agency or Government Related 273,369 165,965 100,130 539,464  A+to AAA 2.56-5.87
Asset-Backed Securities 117,536 109,481 86,529 313,546 AAA 2.15-2.77
Mortgage-Backed Securities:
Noncommercial 295,986 244,066 163,938 703,990 AAA 5.08-5.91
Commercial 191,620 239,542 79,105 510,267 AAA 3.72-5.33
Corporate:
Financial 373,804 279,424 192,305 845,533  BBB+to A- 2.73-3.71
Industrial 721,364 577,064 273,752 1,572,180 BB+ to BBB+ 4.45-5.58
Utility 35,249 10,088 6,323 51,660 BBB- 3.12-5.12

Total fixed income investments at fair value $ 2,654,286 $ 2,034,258 $§ 1,219,161 $§ 5,907,705

State of Montana investments are measured at fair value and categorized within the fair value hierarchy
established by GASB Statement No. 72 — Fair Value Measurement and Application, as defined below.

Fixed income and equity investments classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using
prices quoted in active markets for those securities. Fixed income investments classified in Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities
based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices.
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Residential Mortgages classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are present value adjusted.

Direct real estate classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are based on the latest appraised value.
In years with no updated appraisal the Montana Department of Revenue calculated growth rate is used to
determine the adjusted value. The direct real estate was last appraised in fiscal year 2020.

Investments measured at cost are included to account for all investments within each pool and SMA.
These assets represent cash equivalents, INTERCAP Bonds, and Montana Mortgages and Loans.
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Each of the investment pools and SMA has the following fair value measurements as of June 30, 2022:

Investments by fair value level

Fixed income investments:
Treasuries
Agency or Government Related
Asset Backed Securities
Mortgage Backed Securities:
Noncommercial
Commercial
Corporate:
Commercial Paper
Commercial Notes
Certificates of Deposit
Financial
Industrial
Utility
Domestic equity investments
International equity investments
Direct Real Estate
Residential Mortgages
Investment derivative instruments
Total investments by fair value level
Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Private Investments
Core Real Estate
Non-Core Real Estate
Real Assets
Real Estate High Income Fund
Total investments measured at NAV
Total investments measured at fair value
Investments at cost
Cash and cash equivalents held at custodial bank
INTERCAP Bonds
SMA Montana Mortgages and Loans
Total investments not categorized
Total investments

Investments Measured at Fair Value
(in thousands)

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted prices in

Active Markets for  Significant Other Significant
Identical Assets  Observable Inputs  Unobservable
June 30, 2022 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
$ 1,891,993 § 1,891,993 § -3 —
1,781,964 — 1,781,964 —
313,546 — 313,546 —
703,990 — 703,990 —
510,267 — 510,267 —
908,654 — 908,654 —
253,992 — 253,992 —
752,070 — 752,070 —
845,533 — 845,533 —
1,572,180 — 1,572,180 —
51,660 — 51,660 —
4,301,691 4,301,691 — —
2,152,673 2,152,673 — —
21,105 — — 21,105
1,279 — — 1,279
(143) — (143) —
16,062,454 8,346,357 7,693,713 22,384
2,242,757
1,313,303
903,261
450,245
175,513
5,085,079
21,147,533
4,041,044
68,707
190,088
4,299,839
$ 25,447,372
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The investments measured at NAV for the year ended June 30, 2022, are detailed below:

Investments Measured at NAV (in thousands)

Redemption
Unfunded Frequency (If Redemption
Net Asset Value Commitments  Currently Eligible)  Notice Period
Private Investments $ 2,242,757 $ 1,223,193
Core Real Estate 1,313,303 130,593 Monthly, quarterly 45-90 days
Non-Core Real Estate 903,261 720,895
Real Assets 450,245 366,957
Real Estate High Income Fund 175,513 — Daily 1-3 days
Total investments measured at the NAV $ 5,085,079 $ 2,441,638

STIP and $1.6 billion of SMA are included, and also reported in Tables 2 and 4, respectively.

Private Investments — This type includes investments in limited partnerships. Typically, the types of
partnership strategies included in this portfolio: venture capital, growth equity, buyouts, special situations,
mezzanine, and distressed debt. These investments are considered long-term. Redemptions are
restricted over the life of the partnership. During the life of the partnerships, distributions are received as
underlying partnership investments are realized. It is expected that the underlying assets of the funds will
be liquidated over 10 years. It is probable all the investments in this type will be sold at an amount
different from the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the BOI’s ownership interest in partners’ capital.

Core Real Estate — This type includes funds that invest primarily in core real estate, which makes equity
investments in operating and substantially leased institutional quality real estate in traditional property
types (apartments, office, retail, industrial, and hotel) via commingled funds. The primary investment
objectives of these core real estate funds are to invest in real estate that will generate income from
predictable sources of revenue and not to realize gains on the underlying assets. This investment type
receives distributions of generated income and occasionally through the liquidation of the underlying
assets of the fund. The fair values of the investments in this category have been determined using the
NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the BOI's ownership interest in the partners’ capital. Redemption of
these investments is restricted based on the availability of cash flow arising from investment transactions,
sales, and other fund operations occurring in the ordinary course of business. Therefore, requested
redemptions from a fund will be redeemed as funds become available.

Non-Core Real Estate — This type includes private partnership funds that primarily invest in value added
and opportunistic real estate funds. These funds assume more risk than the core real estate funds to
achieve a greater return on investment. Returns are driven both by current income and by expected
capital appreciation. This investment type receives distributions of generated income and occasionally
through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund. It is expected that the underlying assets of the
funds will be liquidated over 7 to 10 years. The fair values of the investments in this category have been
determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the BOI's ownership interest in the fund.

Real Assets — This type includes private partnership funds that primarily invest in timber, energy, broad
natural resource funds, and infrastructure. This investment type receives distributions of generated
income and occasionally through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund. It is expected that
the underlying assets of the funds will be liquidated over 10 to 20 years. The fair values of the
investments in this category have been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the
BOI’s ownership interest in the partners’ capital.

Real Estate High Income Fund — This type consists of predominantly of real estate related instruments
with an emphasis in U.S. corporate credits, whether in the form of bonds or loans that are rated below
investment grade. These assets carry a higher risk of default than investment grade securities and
accordingly provide a higher level of income or yield commensurate with that risk. The fair values of the
investments of this type have been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the
investments.
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As of June 30, 2022, the exchange date, BOI's foreign currency exposure by denomination and
investment type are reported, in U.S. dollars, at fair value and is limited to CAPP. The following table
excludes the foreign investments denominated in U.S. dollars for the American Depository Receipts
(ADRs), sovereign debt, and commingled index funds.
Foreign Currency Exposure by Country
Investment Type in U.S. Dollar Equivalent
(in thousands)

Fixed International Private

Foreign Currency Denomination  Currency Income Equities  Investments Real Estate Real Assets
Australian Dollar $ (120) $ —§ 44281 $ — 3 — 9 —
Brazilian Real 269 5,933 23,738 — — —
Canadian Dollar 57 — 75,211 — — —
Chilean Peso 68 1,900 120 — — —
Columbian Peso 12 2,783 — — — —
Czech Koruna — — 56 — — —
Danish Krone 26 — 23,845 — — —
Egyptian Pound — — 62 — — —
EMU - Euro 32 2,781 190,155 13,179 145 29,404
Hong Kong Dollar 201 — 78,288 — — —
Hungarian Forint 43 2,253 1,499 — — —
Hryvnia 281 947 — — — —
Indonesian Rupiah 114 3,483 12,518 — — —
Japanese Yen 459 — 134,236 — — —
Kazakhstan Tenge — 462 — — — —
Malaysian Ringgit 54 2,086 8,485 — — —
Mexican Peso 62 7,262 14,510 — — —
New Israeli Shegel — — 11,262 — — —
New Taiwan Dollar — — 38,694 — — —
New Zealand Dollar — — 308 — — —
Norwegian Krone — — 15,547 — — —
Philippine Peso 10 — 1,164 — — —
Polish Zloty — 423 4,942 — — —
Pound Sterling 632 — 90,162 — — —
Romanian Leu 35 698 — — — —
Russian Ruble 27 — — — — —
Singapore Dollar 20 — 10,657 — — —
SOL — 4,791 — — — —
South African Rand 24 6,472 2,883 — — —
South Korean Won 55 — 36,832 — — —
Swedish Krona 70 — 33,148 — — —
Swiss Franc 1 — 41,035 — — —
Thailand Baht 13 — 7,393 — — —
Turkish Lira — — 620 — — —
Uruguayan Peso — 2,553 — — — —
Uzbekistan Sum — 308 — — — —
Yuan Renminbi 76 (2) 17,694 — — —

Total cash and securities $ 2,521 § 45133 § 919,345 § 13,179 § 145 § 29,404
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Investments in alternative financial assets are usually made via limited partnership agreements that
involve many limited partners and a general partner who is responsible for all investment decisions. The
limited partners make an original commitment, after which capital is called as needed by the general
partner to make investments. These agreements will usually last for a minimum of 10 years. The following
table shows the BOI's remaining commitments as of June 30, 2022 to active alternative investment funds
with approximately $2.4 billion related to CAPP and $88.0 million related to TFIP.

Commitments to Fund Managers
(in thousands)

Original Commitment

Pension Asset Class Commitment Remaining
Private Investments $ 3831878 § 1,223,193
Real Assets 839,938 366,957
Real Estate 3,113,601 851,488
Total $ 7785417 § 2,441,638

D. Investments
BOI was created by the State Legislature to manage the Unified Investment Program established by the

State Constitution. Long-term investments are administered by the following agencies, as allowed by
state law, Section 17-6-201, MCA:

Long-term Investments

Percent

Department Administered
Board of Investments 45.58 %
Universities 21.26
MPERA (Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration) 25.79
College Savings Plan 491
Montana Board of Housing 1.55
Other " 0.91

Total 100.00 %

" Other consists of the Commissioner of Higher Education, the Department of Administration, the
Department of Revenue, and State Auditor.

BOI must employ the "Prudent Expert Rule" in managing the State's investment portfolio. Investments are
presented at fair value. Investment fair values for publicly traded securities are determined primarily by
reference to market prices supplied to BOI's custodial bank or trustee. State investments are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy established by GASB Statement No. 72.

The PERS Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (DCRP) and the Deferred Compensation Plan’s
Montana Fixed Fund is a stable value investment option administered and monitored by the Public
Employees’ Retirement Board (PERB) with input from the Employee Investment Advisory Committee and
the investment consultant. PERB has established an investment policy for the Montana Fixed Fund to
identify objectives, investment guidelines, and outline the responsibility of the outside vendors. This
investment policy includes stable value manager Pacific Investment Management Company LLC
(PIMCO), custodial bank State Street Bank and Trust Company (State Street), and third-party synthetic
Guaranteed Interest Contract (GIC) providers, Transamerica Life Insurance Company (Transamerica),
Prudential Insurance Company of America (Prudential), and Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity
Company (Voya). All money invested in the Montana Fixed Fund investment option of the PERS-DCRP
and Deferred Compensation Plan is held in a Pooled Trust. The third party recordkeeper, Empower
Retirement™, tracks and reports the daily trading and valuations of all investment options, including the
assets held by the individual mutual fund companies.

85



Montana Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

Primary government

Investments by fair value level
Treasuries ("
Agency/Government Related
Stocks
Other

Total investments at fair value

Investments at cost
Montana Mortgages and Loans ©
Total investments at cost
Total primary government

Component units/fiduciary funds
Investments by fair value level
Treasuries ("
Agency/Govermnment Related
Asset-Backed Securities "
Mortgage-Backed Securities ™
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Financial-Corporate "
Industrial-Corporate "
Utility-Corporate
Equity Investments
529 College Savings Plan
VEBA
State Auditor
MSU Investments @
MSU Component Unit Investments
UM Component Unit Investments @
Board of Housing ®

Total investments at fair value
Investments at net asset value (NAV)
Core Real Estate
Deferred Compensation
Defined Contribution ©
MSU Component Unit Investments
UM Other Investments @
UM Component Unit Investments @
UM Interest in Split Interest @

Total investments at NAV
Investments at cost
MSU Component Unit Investments
Board of Housing

Total Investments at Cost

Total component unit/fiduciary investments

Total investments

Securities lending investment pool

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Table 4 - Investments
(in thousands)

Quoted prices in
Active Markets for

Significant

86

June 30, 2022 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
$ 1,896 $ 1,896 $ — 3 —
5,740 — 5,740 _
9,792 9,792 — —
340 — 340 —
17,768 11,688 6,080 —
182,723
T 182723
200,491
245,923 245,923 — —
94,390 — 94,390 —
86,529 — 86,529 —
163,938 — 163,938 —
79,105 — 79,105 —
192,305 — 192,305 —
273,752 — 273,752 —
6,323 — 6,323 —
181,720 181,720 — —
176,065 — 176,065 —
10,727 10,727 — —
11,706 5,567 6,139 —
324 — 324 —
207,887 200,496 4,868 2,523
94,277 33,527 49,952 10,798
27,729 10,669 17,060 —
1,852,700 688,629 1,150,750 13,321
121,318
565,206
359,486
134,200
397
298,603
5,431
1,484,641
20,986
27,306
48,792
3,386,133
$ 3,586,624
$ 11209
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(1) The credit quality rating and duration are included in the above sections for the rated investments.

(2)  For more detail, refer to component unit separately issued financial statements.

(3)  The total for Montana Mortgages and Loans does not include Coal Severance Tax loans, which was included in SMA financial statements. This
amount of $7.4 million is considered advances to other funds/component units and amounts due from component units in the Coal Tax Severance column
of the governmental fund financial statements.

As of June 30, 2022, the fair value of the investments on loan was $126.8 million. Collateral provided for the investments on loan totaled $130.1 million
consisting of $11.2 million in cash and $118.9 million in securities.

$1.6 billion of SMA is included and also reported in the Investments Measured at Fair Value and NAV table.
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NOTE 4. DISAGGREGATION OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, DEFERRED
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Accounts receivable, long-term loans/notes/leases receivable, accounts payable, deferred outflows of
resources, and deferred inflows of resources on the Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2022,
consisted of the following (in thousands):

A. Accounts Receivables

Governmental Activities

Coal Federal Internal Nonmajor State
Severance  Special General Service Governmental ~ Special
Tax Revenue Fund Funds Land Grant Funds Revenue
Charges for services/fines/forfeitures  $ — 9 5779 $ 4121 $ 596 $ — 95 — $ 22,002
Contributions/premiums — — — 12,467 — — 2,428
Grants/contracts/donations — 3 — — — — 22,425
Loans/investment income 4,504 — 4,137 386 3,381 6,278 3,309
Lease receivables'” — — — — 5,556 — 4
License and permits — — — — — — 1,211
Medicaid Drug Rebate Program — 81,734 20,431 — — — —
Other receivable — 291 3 558 — — 51
Reimbursements/overpayments — — 10,649 — — — 12,426
Taxes receivable 13,085 — 458,029 — — 7,440 110,397
Total receivables 17,589 87,807 497,370 14,007 8,937 13,718 174,253
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (688) (2,436)  (149,222) (559) — (228) (21,226)
Receivables, net § 16901 § 85371 § 343148 § 13448 § 8,937 § 13,490 § 153,027

" GASB Statement No. 87 was implemented in fiscal year 2022. Further detail regarding lease receivables is provided in Note 10.

Business-type Activities

Municipal
Finance Nonmajor Unemployment
Programs Enterprise Funds Insurance
Charges for services $ — % 37,990 $ -
Contributions/premiums — 3,849 5,293
Loans/investment income 7,581 182 —
Other receivables — 1 —
Reimbursements/overpayments — — 26,295
Total receivables 7,581 42,032 31,588
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts — (511) (14,470)
Receivables, net $ 7,581 § 41521 § 17,118
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

B. Long-Term Loans/Notes/Leases Receivable
Governmental Activities
Federal Nonmajor Statfe
Special Governmental ~ Special
Revenue Land Grant Funds Revenue
Loans/investment income $ 13179 § — 3 17,202 $ 506,399
Lease receivables'” — 364,880 — 230
Other receivable — — — 12
Total receivables 13,179 364,880 17,202 506,641
Less: allowance for loan forgiveness (9,575) — — —
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts — — — (141)
Long-term loans/notes/leases receivable $ 3604 $ 364,880 $ 17,202 § 506,500
" GASB Statement No. 87 was implemented in fiscal year 2022. Further detail regarding lease receivables is provided in Note 10.
Business-type Activities
Municipal
Finance Nonmajor Unemployment
Programs Enterprise Funds Insurance
Loans/investment income $ 42228 $ ) —
Reimbursements/overpayments — — 57,367
Other receivables — 71 —
Total receivables 42,228 71 57,367
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts — — (14,529)
Long-term loans/notes/leases receivable $ 42,228 $ 71§ 42,838
C. Deferred Outflows of Resources
Governmental Activities
Nonmajor State
Federal Special Internal Service  Governmental Special
Revenue General Fund Funds Funds Revenue
OPEB deferred outflows $ -5 92,610 §$ 6,073 § -3 —
Pension deferred outflows 3 651,010 12,625 — 111
Refunding deferred outflows — — — 1,456 —
Total deferred outflows $ 39 743620 $ 18,698 $ 1,456 $ 111
Business-type Activities
Municipal
Finance Nonmajor
Programs Enterprise Funds
OPEB deferred outflows $ 31 °$ 1,670
Pension deferred outflows @ 81 3,390
Total deferred outflows $ 112 $ 5,060

(1)
@)
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Further detail regarding OPEB related deferred outflows of resources is provided in Note 7.
Further detail regarding pension related deferred outflows of resources is provided in Note 6.
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D. Accounts Payables

Governmental Activities

Nonmajor State
Federal Special Internal Service Governmental Special
Revenue General Fund Funds Land Grant Funds Revenue
Accrued interest $ 2% 216 $ — 3 — 3 1,715 § 57
Payroll 7,851 17,649 3,262 — 5 17,693
Tax refunds — 223,514 — — — —
Vendors/individuals 253,733 83,824 14,767 9 5,149 174,313
Payables, net $ 261,586 $ 325,203 $ 18,029 $ 99 6,869 $ 192,063
Business-type Activities
Municipal
Finance Nonmajor Unemployment
Programs Enterprise Funds Insurance
Accrued interest $ 188 $ 6 $ —
Payroll 20 803 —
Vendors/individuals — 17,607 4,817
Payables, net $ 208 $ 18,416 $ 4,817
E. Deferred Inflows of Resources
Governmental Activities
Federal Nonmajor State
Special Internal Governmental  Special
Revenue General Fund  Service Funds  Land Grant Funds Revenue
Leases deferred inflows $ -5 I — 5 370,436 $ -5 233
OPEB deferred inflows ) — 58,536 3,862 — — —
Pension deferred inflows 5 943,532 19,218 — — 152
Refunding deferred inflows — — — — 1,867 —
Total deferred inflows $ 58 1,002,068 $ 23,080 $ 370,436 _$ 1,867 $ 385

Business-type Activities

Municipal
Finance Nonmajor
Programs Enterprise Funds
OPEB deferred inflows " $ 19 §$ 1,086
Pension deferred inflows @ 105 4,877
Total deferred inflows $ 124 $ 5,963

Further detail regarding OPEB related deferred inflows of resources is provided in Note 7.
Further detail regarding pension related deferred inflows of resources is provided in Note 6.
GASB Statement No. 87 was implemented in fiscal year 2022. Further detail regarding lease
related deferred inflows is provided in Note 10.
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NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Changes in capital asset balances for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, are reflected in the following

table (in thousands):

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction work in progress
Easements
Museum and art
Right to use lease land @
Other
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure
Land improvements
Buildings/improvements
Equipment
Easements - amortized
Right to use lease land
Right to use lease buildings
Right to use lease equipment
Other

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:

Infrastructure

Land improvements
Buildings/improvements
Equipment

Right to use lease land

Right to use lease buildings
Right to use lease equipment
Other

Total accumulated depreciation and amortization

Total capital assets being depreciated, net

Intangible assets

Governmental activities capital assets, net

Beginning . ’ Ending
Balance  Increases " Decreases"  Balance

$ 776482 § 15375 § (1,727)$ 790,130
1,372,621 456,485 (522,324) 1,306,762

255,427 23,490 (5) 278,912
86,165 590 — 86,755
72 — — 72
30,468 205 (21) 30,652

2,521,235 496,145 (524077) 2,493,303

5,869,360 624,503 (452,985) 6,040,878

78,660 2,056 - 80,716
637,537 40,223 (118) 677,642
451,617 23,866 (15,555) 459,928

1,231 - (73) 1,158
1,812 - — 1812
156,620 5,446 - 162,066
481 3 - 484
6,131 188 — 6,319

7,203,449 696,285 (468,731) 7,431,003

(1,776,307) (215,502) 222,645 (1,769,164)
(40,194) (3,562) — (43,756)
(437,566) (21,505) 115 (458,956)
(300,166) (25,485) 11,101 (314,550)
— (160) — (160)

- (20,997) — (20,997)

— (119) — (119)

(4,845) (288) — (5,133)

) )

(2,559,078) (287,618 233,861 (2,612,835

4,644,371 408,667 (234,870) 4,818,168

60,414 7,992 (24,148) 44,258

$ 7226020 § 912,804 §  (783,095) § 7,355,729

0 The increases and decreases noted above include adjustments related to prior periods and correction of errors.
@ The beginning balance has been restated for implementation of GASB Statement No. 87.
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Beginning Ending
Business-type Activities Balance Increases " Decreases”  Balance
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 800 $ -9 -9 800
Construction work in progress 1,303 3,480 (953) 3,830
Other 3,213 358 (145) 3,426
Total capital assets not being depreciated 5,316 3,838 (1,098) 8,056
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure 1,175 — — 1,175
Land improvements 3,830 — — 3,830
Buildings/improvements 16,379 14 — 16,393
Equipment 9,846 349 (235) 9,960
Right to use lease buildings 4,067 — — 4,067
Total capital assets being depreciated 35,297 363 (235) 35,425
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:
Infrastructure (783) (19) — (802)
Land improvements (2,362) (149) — (2,511)
Buildings/improvements (7,700) (583) — (8,283)
Equipment (7,756) (337) 210 (7,883)
Right to use lease buildings — (404) — (404)
Total accumulated depreciation and amortization (18,601) (1,492) 210 (19,883)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 16,696 (1,129) (25) 15,542
Intangible assets 3,432 — (1,664) 1,768
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 25444 § 2,709 $ (2,787) $ 25,366

" The increases and decreases noted above include adjustments related to prior periods and corrections of errors.
@ The beginning balance has been restated for implementation of GASB Statement No. 87.

Total right to use lease capital assets (in thousands):

Right to Use
Right to Use Lease Right to Use
Lease Capital Accumulated Lease Capital
Assets Amortization Assets, Net
Governmental activities ~ $ 164,434 $ (21,276) $ 143,158
Business-type activities 4,067 (404) 3,663
Total $ 168,501 $ (21,680) $ 146,821

92



Montana Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022

Depreciation expense for capital assets and amortization expense for right to use lease assets were
charged to governmental functions as follows (in thousands):

Right to Use
Lease Asset
Depreciation™  Amortization Total

General government $ 9,691 §$ 3310 §$ 13,001
Public safety 9,565 5,120 14,685
Transportation, including depreciation of the highway system maintained by the State 217,313 — 217,313
Health and human services 4,043 8,780 12,823
Education 177 435 612
Natural resources, including depreciation of the state's dams 11,425 2,633 14,058
Depreciation on capital assets held by the internal service funds 14,128 998 15,126
Total - Governmental Activities $ 266,342 $ 21,276 $ 287,618

M Depreciation expenses noted above include adjustments related to prior periods and correction of errors.

Depreciation expense for capital assets and amortization expense for right to use lease assets were
charged to business-type activities as follows (in thousands):

Right to Use
Lease Asset
Depreciation”  Amortization Total

Liquor Stores $ 92 § 30 $ 122
State Lottery 36 207 243
Prison Funds 386 — 386
West Yellowstone Airport 515 — 515
Other Enterprise Funds 59 167 226
Total - Business-type Activities $ 1,088 $ 404 $ 1,492

0 Depreciation expenses noted above include adjustments related to prior periods and correction of errors.

According to GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital
Assets and for Insurance Recoveries, a capital asset is considered impaired when its service utility
has declined, enactment or approval of laws or regulations, or other changes in environmental
factors, technological changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manner or duration of
use of a capital asset. In fiscal year 2022, the Department of Transportation replaced a portion of the
highway system due to these factors, resulting in a $124.4 million impairment loss, which is included
in the Transportation functional expense line on the Statement of Activities.
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NOTE 6. RETIREMENT PLANS
A. General

The funding policies for each plan provide for periodic employee, employer, and State nonemployer
contributions at rates specified by state law. An actuary determines the actuarial implications of the
funding requirement in an annual actuarial valuation. The actuarial method used to determine the
implications of the statutory funding level is the Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method, with both normal cost
and amortization of the unfunded actuarial liability determined as a level percentage of payroll expense.
Benefits are established by state law and can only be amended by the Legislature.

Montana State Fund (MSF), a discretely presented component unit of the State, by statute, prepares
separately issued financial statements on a calendar year-end basis. Due to the difference in the
reporting period, there will be a variance between the note disclosures and the financial statements for
some pension-related items.

Public Employees’ Retirement Board

The Public Employees’ Retirement Board (PERB) oversees eight defined benefit plans: Public
Employees’ Retirement System-Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (PERS-DBRP); Judges’ Retirement
System (JRS); Highway Patrol Officers’ Retirement System (HPORS); Sheriffs’ Retirement System (SRS);
Game Wardens’ and Peace Officers’ Retirement System (GWPORS); Municipal Police Officers’
Retirement System (MPORS); Firefighters’ Unified Retirement System (FURS); and Volunteer
Firefighters’ Compensation Act (VFCA). The PERB also oversees one defined contribution plan: Public
Employees’ Retirement System-Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (PERS-DCRP), and the education
funds related to the pension plans. All benefit plans, defined benefit and defined contribution, are
administered by the Montana Public Employees’ Retirement Administration (MPERA). Separately issued
financial statements and actuarial reports can be obtained at 100 North Park, Suite 200, PO Box 200131,
Helena, MT 59620-0131. The financial statements and the latest actuarial valuation may also be obtained
here: http://mpera.mt.gov/. The financial statements for the PERS-DBRP include activity for the defined
benefit plan and the associated education fund. The PERS-DCRP financial statements include activity for
the defined contribution plan and the associated education fund.

The PERB is an independent, seven-member board, appointed by the Governor. The members are
assigned five-year, staggered terms. The PERB consists of two members at large, two active defined
benefit public employees, one active defined contribution public employee, one member experienced in
investments, and one retired public employee. The PERB approves the annual operating budget,
developed by MPERA management, before the beginning of the fiscal year. As governed by statute, the
PERB’s defined benefit administrative expenses may not exceed 1.5% of the total defined benefit plan
retirement benefits paid. In addition, the PERB decides legislative policy and priorities, hires the executive
director, establishes the policies and procedures that govern operations at MPERA, and hears and rules
on appeal matters of disabilities, retirees, and members. PERB members do not receive compensation for
their service to the MPERA but are reimbursed for necessary expenses incurred while serving.

All defined benefit pension plans provide retirement, disability, and death benefits to the plan members
and their beneficiaries. The PERS-DCRP Disability OPEB Plan provides a defined benefit for disabled
members of the PERS-DCRP. Beneficiaries do not receive disability benefits but may attain retirement
benefits from the PERS-DCRP. A summary of the plan eligibility and benefits are found in the Summary of
Benefits sections throughout Note 6.

Teachers’ Retirement System

The Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS) is a defined benefit plan administered by the Teachers
Retirement Board (TRB). The plan prepares a publicly issued annual comprehensive financial report that
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for TRS. Separately issued
financial statements, actuarial valuations, and experience studies can be obtained at 100 N Park Avenue,
Suite 110, PO Box 200139, Helena, MT 59620-0139, or can be found online at https://trs.mt.gov/.
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The TRB consists of six members, all of whom are appointed by the Governor. Three TRB members must
be teaching professionals who, when appointed, are active members of TRS; at least one of them must
be an active classroom teacher. One TRB member must be a retired teacher who was a member of TRS
at the time of retirement. Two TRB members are appointed from the public at large. TRB members serve
staggered, five-year terms. Three TRB members constitute a quorum.

A summary of the number of participating employer and nonemployer contributing entities as of June 30,
2022, follows:

PERS-  PERS-
Classification of Participant GWPORS  DBRP DCRP SRS  MPORS FURS VFCA TRS
Employer 7 553 344 57 36 27 225 362
Nonemployer
contributing entity — 1 — — 1 1 1 1
Total Participants 7 554 344 57 37 28 226 363

There are 630 State employees who are eligible to participate in defined benefit pension plans, other than
the plans listed above.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The MPERA prepares its financial statements using fund accounting principles and the accrual basis of
accounting. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition in the
financial statements. Plan member contributions, employer contributions, and related receivables are
recognized as revenues in the accounting period in which they are earned and become measurable,
pursuant to formal commitments and statutory requirements. Benefit payments and refunds/distributions
are recognized in the accounting period in which they are due and payable in accordance with the terms
of each plan. Administrative and other expenses, and the associated liabilities, are recognized in the
period the liability is incurred. Administrative expenses are financed through investment earnings on the
pension trust fund for the defined benefit plans. Interfund receivables and payables exist at year-end for
defined benefit administrative expenses that are accounted for within PERS-DBRP and allocated to the
other defined benefit plans at year-end. Costs specifically related to the computer system upgrades are
charged directly to the individual plans. The MPERA adheres to all applicable Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) statements.

The TRS prepares its financial statements using the accrual basis of accounting. For the purposes of
measuring the net pension liability, deferred inflows of resources, and deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the TRS, and
additions to/deductions from TRS’s fiduciary net position, the items have been determined on the same
accrual basis as they are reported by the TRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized as of
employer payroll paid dates. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. The TRS adheres to all
applicable GASB statements.

The pension trust fund financial statements presented in this report are prepared using the accrual basis
of accounting in the same manner as that described for the pension plan administrators above.
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C. Summary of All Public Employee Retirement Plans

A summary of classes of members in JRS, HPORS, GWPORS, PERS-DBRP, SRS, MPORS, FURS,
VFCA, TRS, and PERS-DCRP, covered by benefit terms at June 30, 2022, follows:

Multi-
Type of Plan for Reporting  Single-Employer Defined g . . Employer
Purposes Benefit Multi-Employer Defined Benefit Defined
Contribution
Plan Designation JRs MPORS Gypors | PERS:  srs MPORS pyps VREA  1Rs | PERs-DCRP

DBRP?

Classification of Member
Active 59 252 977| 28,508 1,481 841 749 2233 19,975 3,386

Inactive entitled to, but not yet
receiving, benefits or a

refund: — — — — — — — — — —
Vested 2 19 170 4,790 211 123 51 836 2,015 997
Non-vested 2 38 589] 23,110 914 212 93 8397 5,656 1,283
Inactive members and
beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits: — — — — — — — — — —
Service retirements® 69 345 430] 24,481 786 880 674 1,517 15,203 152
Disability retirements — 3 3 102 31 25 13 1 183 10
Survivor benefits” 5 9 12| 545 23 28 17 6 1,983 3
Total membership 137 666 2,181] 81,536 3,446 2,109 1,597 12,990 45,015 5,831

™" Includes Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) in the Active count.
The inactive non-vested count includes dormant accounts that were previously not counted.

® Includes "Alternative Payees" and "Death After Retirement" benefit payments. As of Fiscal Year 2019, the TRS plan stopped reporting separate benefit
recipient categories.

Includes "Death Before Retirement" benefit payments.

© " The VFCA Inactive Non-Vested count is being included in the membership count. Prior to Fiscal Year 2022 the count was not included in the actuarial
funding valuation.

The following table represents the aggregate proportional share of the pension amounts for all defined
benefit plans from the perspective of the State as the employer and/or nonemployer contributing entity for
primary government, discretely presented component units, and fiduciary component units reported as of
June 30, 2022, based on the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020 (amounts presented in thousands):

Aggregate Pension Amounts - All Defined Benefit Plans

Primary Government

Discretely

State as Presented . iduciary
Stateas  Nonemployer P:}ﬁ::' Component Component  TOTAL
Employer  Contributing overnn%nt Units Units
Entity

Net Pension Liabilities $ 914227 § 1012358 $ 1926585 $§ 160,424 $ 1,417 $§ 2,088,426
(Net Pension Assets) (59,202) — (59,202) — — (59,202)
Pension Deferred Outflows of Resources 366,393 300,829 667,222 71,033 442 738,697
Pension Deferred Inflows of Resources 542,727 425,159 967,886 68,309 584 1,036,779
Pension Expense or Nonemployer 87,976 138,541 226,517 22,180 140 248,837

Contributing Entity Grant Expense

) MSF pension deferred outflows of resources difference of $915.6 thousand is due to MSF reporting on a calendar year-end basis on
financial statements with a 6-month subsequent contribution while a 12-month subsequent contribution is disclosed in Note 6.
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D. Defined Benefit Retirement Plans
The information below includes all defined benefit retirement plans administered by MPERA and TRS.

(1) Plan Descriptions and Funding Policies

Judges’ Retirement System — The JRS, administered by the MPERA, is a single-employer defined
benefit plan established in 1967 and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 5, MCA (Montana Code
Annotated). This plan provides retirement benefits for all Montana judges of the district courts, justices of
the Supreme Court, the Chief Water Judge, and the Associate Water Judge. Benefits are established by
state law and can only be amended by the Legislature. The JRS provides retirement, disability, and death
benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are based on eligibility, years of service, and
compensation. Member rights are vested after five years of service.

Summary of Benefits
Member’s current salary’ or highest average compensation (HAC)?
"Hired prior to July 1, 1997, and non-Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) —
monthly compensation at time of retirement;
2Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or electing GABA — HAC during any consecutive 36 months;
2Hired on or after July 1, 2013 — 110% annual cap on compensation considered as a part of
a member’s HAC.

Eligibility for benefit
Age 60, 5 years of membership service;
Any age with 5 years of membership service — involuntary termination, actuarially reduced.

Vesting
5 years of membership service.

Monthly benefit formula
3.33% of current salary’ (non-GABA) or HAC? (GABA\) per year of service credit for the first
15 years of service credit, plus 1.785% per year for each year after 15 years.

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)

Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or those electing GABA — after the member has completed 12
full months of retirement, the member’s benefit increases by a maximum of 3.0% each
January, inclusive of all other adjustments to the member’s benefit.

Minimum benefit adjustment (non-GABA)

If hired prior to July 1, 1997, and member did not elect GABA — current salary of an active
member in same position is used in the calculation of the monthly benefit each time the
Legislature increases salaries for active judges.

Contributions to the Plan
Rates are specified by state law for periodic employee and employer contributions. The Legislature has
the authority to establish and amend contribution rates to the plan.

Member contributions to the system — Contributions are deducted from each member’s
salary and remitted by the participating employer. An individual account is established for
each member’s contributions and interest allocations until a retirement or refund request is
processed. Plan members are required to contribute 7.0% of the member’s monthly
compensation.

Employer contributions to the system — During the 2021 Legislative Session, Senate Bill 175

was passed suspending the employer contributions beginning the first full pay period
occurring in July 2021 through the last full pay period occurring in June 2023. Beginning July
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1, 2023, employer contributions will then resume at a reduced rate of 14.00% down from the
current statutory rate of 25.81%. If the funded ratio of the JRS drops below 120%, the
employer contribution rate will return to 25.81%. This impacts measurement date June 30,
2022, for employer reporting date June 30, 2023.

Highway Patrol Officers’ Retirement System — The HPORS, administered by the MPERA, is a single-
employer defined benefit plan established on July 1, 1945, and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 6,
MCA. This plan provides retirement benefits to all members of the Montana Highway Patrol, including
supervisory personnel. Benefits are established by state law and can only be amended by the
Legislature. The HPORS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their
statutory beneficiaries. Benefits are based on eligibility, years of service, and highest average
compensation. Member rights for death and disability are vested immediately. All other member rights are
vested after 5 or 10 years of service.

Section 19-6-709, MCA provides eligible members retired prior to July 1, 1991, or their survivors, an
annual supplemental lump-sum payment distributed each September. This lump-sum payment is funded
by a statutory appropriation requested by the PERB from the General Fund. Factors impacting eligibility
include the number of years the recipient has received a service retirement or disability benefit, the
recipient’s age, and whether the recipient is employed in a position covered by a retirement system under
Title 19, MCA.

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP)

Beginning October 1, 2015, eligible members of HPORS can participate in the DROP by filing a one-time
irrevocable election with the PERB. The DROP is governed by Title 19, Chapter 6, Part 10, MCA. A
member must have completed at least twenty years of membership service to be eligible. They may elect
to participate in the DROP for a minimum of one month and a maximum of 60 months and may only
participate in the DROP once. A participant remains a member of the HPORS, but will not receive
membership service or service credit in the system for the duration of the member’s DROP period. During
participation in the DROP, all mandatory employer contributions continue to the retirement system;
mandatory employee contributions are deposited to the member's DROP account. A monthly benefit is
calculated based on salary and years of service to date as of the beginning of the DROP period. The
monthly benefit is paid into the member’s DROP account until the end of the DROP period. At the end of
the DROP period, the participant may receive the balance of the DROP account in a lump-sum payment
or in a direct rollover to another eligible plan, as allowed by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). If the
participant continues employment after the DROP period ends, they will again accrue membership
service and service credit. The DROP account cannot be distributed until employment is formally
terminated. As of June 30, 2022, the balance held by MPERA for HPORS DROP participants was
approximately $6.2 million.

Summary of Benefits
Member’s highest average compensation (HAC)
Hired prior to July 1, 2013 — HAC during any consecutive 36 months;
Hired on or after July 1, 2013 — 110% annual cap on compensation considered as a part of
a member’s HAC.

Eligibi